AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

AUTOLOGOUS FAT PROMOTES SECOND DEGREE BURN WOUND HEALING IN DIABETIC RATS: A MECHANISTIC APPROACH

by NORA MOHAMAD HIJAL

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science to the Department of Anatomy, Cell Biology and Physiological Sciences of the Faculty of Medicine at the American University of Beirut

> Beirut, Lebanon May 2021

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

AUTOLOGOUS FAT PROMOTES SECOND DEGREE BURN WOUND HEALING IN DIABETIC RATS: A MECHANISTIC APPROACH

BY

NORA MOHAMAD HIJAL

Approved by:

A.R. Jugg

Dr. Abdo Jurjus, Professor Department of Anatomy, Cell Biology, and Physiological Sciences

Dr. Assaad Eid, Associate Professor Department of Anatomy, Cell Biology, and Physiological Sciences

Member of Committee

Dr. Georges Daoud, Associate Professor Department of Anatomy, Cell Biology, and Physiological Sciences

Member of Committee

Member of Committee

Dr. Michel Masaad, Assistant Professor Memb Department of Experimental Pathology Immunology and Microbiology

Date of thesis defense: May 4, 2021

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

THESIS RELEASE FORM

 Student Name:
 Hijal
 Nora
 Mohamad

 Last
 First
 Middle

I authorize the American University of Beirut, to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of my thesis; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes:

 \boxtimes As of the date of submission

One year from the date of submission of my thesis.

Two years from the date of submission of my thesis.

Three years from the date of submission of my thesis.

Nora Hijal		10/05/2021_	

Signature

Date

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Special recognition goes to Dr. Jurjus for his guidance and support throughout this journey. And to Ms. Rima Farhat for all her technical help. To my parents, my brother and my friends, whom without their support I wouldn't have reached my goals. Particularly Bassel Awada and Wissam Jammal, who were indispensable through and through.

My recognition and gratitude to all members of the animal care facility, and all the animals that were sacrificed in the process.

ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OF

Nora Mohamad Hijal for

<u>Master of Science</u> <u>Major</u>: Human Morphology

Title: <u>Autologous fat promotes second degree burn wound healing in diabetic rats: A</u> mechanistic approach

<u>Introduction</u>: Adipocytes have several roles in different tissues that go beyond simple energy storage to include metabolism regulation and growth. There is evidence that adipocytes have immunological and stem cells like properties when it comes to tissue regeneration and vascularization. In addition, transplanted fat improve facial and body proportions and the surrounding tissue as well as the quality of aging skin and scaring especially in damaged skin conditions.

In a study in drosophila, skin wound healing with fat cells transfer, it was observed that adipocytes have motility and migration properties which aid in wound repair and prevention of infection. Hence, this study was conducted, in order to gain a better understanding of the role of autologous fat tissue transferred in second degree burn wounds in diabetes.

<u>Methods:</u> A total of 80 adult male rats, 200-250g weight, were used according to IACUC guidelines. The interscapular region was selected as a site of burn and fat transplantation. Diabetes was induced by a 60mg/kg intravenous injection of Sterptozotocin (STZ). Glucose serum levels and body weights were monitored regularly. The burn was performed at 80°c for 40 sec and 4 animals were sacrificed on days 3-7-14-21-28 post-burn from each group.

The clinical status of the burn was checked on daily basis. Routine histology was performed as well as the levels of interleukins IL-6, IL-12, and IL-1 α were determined by qRT-PCR.

<u>Results:</u> Redness around the rim of the burn was reduced in the presence of transferred fat in both diabetic and non-diabetic rats on days 3 and 7. Crust formation started at day 7 post-op in all subgroups. however, on day 14 the edges of the crusts started to peel off in the diabetics treated with fat as well as non-diabetic with fat alone to a more advanced degree. On day 21, the crust has fallen first in the groups having fat both diabetic and non-diabetic and the wound surface area got smaller than the controls. At the last time point, day 28, groups with fat healed better with a smaller surface area and hairs in most of the burned surface, almost 90% in non-diabetics, 70% in diabetics, and 50% in the absence of fat in non-diabetics.

The histological studies showed a movement of the fat deep to the dermis with accumulation of myofibroblasts, inflammatory cells and collagen fibers, as well as earlier reepithelialization and early foundation of skin adnexa. The molecular analysis of IL-1 α , IL-6, and IL-12 showed a distinct modulation of the interleukin levels in the

presence of fatty tissue by increase till day 14 then a decrease to day 28 corresponding to the progress in healing.

<u>Conclusion</u>: Our preliminary results have shown that fat transfer improved healing of the burned wounds, leading to a faster and improved wound recovery with reduced scaring, especially in the diabetic rat model. The mechanism was explored further with the completion of the molecular part of the study, which indicated control of inflammation in early stages with induction of more myofibroblastic activities leading to early contraction of the wound and improved scar.

Keywords: wound healing, burn wound, scar formation, autologous fat

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	1
ABSTRACT	2
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS	7
LIST OF TABLES	9
I. INTRODUCTION	.10
II. LITERATURE REVIEW	.11
A. BURNS, A WORLDWIDE BURDEN	11
B. CLASSIFICATION AND STAGING OF BURNS	14
C. HEALING	16
1. Hemostasis	17
2. Inflammation	20
3. PROLIFERATION	22
4. MATURATION	24
D. INVOLVEMENT OF MAST CELLS IN WOUND HEALING	25
E. IMPORTANT ROLES OF MAST CELLS IN WOUND HEALING	27
III. AIM	.34
IV. MATERIALS & METHODS	.35
A. ANIMAL WORK	35

B. DIABETES TYPE I INDUCTION	36
C. BURN AND SURGERY	36
D. HISTOLOGICAL STUDIES	38
E. MOLECULAR STUDIES	39
1. PROTEIN EXTRACTION AND QUANTIFICATION 2. QUANTITATIVE REAL-TIME POLYMERASE CHAIN REACTION (PCR)	39 . 39
F. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	41
V. RESULTS	.42
A. EFFECT OF FAT TRANSFER ON THE WOUND AREA	42
B. EFFECT OF FAT TRANSFER ON THE WOUND HEALING AT THE HISTOLOGICAL LEVEL	45
C. EFFECT OF FAT TRANSFER ON THE MOBILIZATION OF MAST CELLS IN THE BURNT AREA : ACTIVE PARTICIPANTS	50
D. EFFECT OF FAT TRANSFER ON THE MOLECULAR LEVEL: TRANSFERRED AUTOLOGOUS FAT MODULATES INFLAMMATOR CYTOKINES IN THE BURNT SITE	CY 54
1. IL-6 2. IL-12 3. IL-1A	54 55 57
VI. DISCUSSION	.59
VII. CONCLUSION	.69
A. LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY	69

B. FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	70
APPENDIX	71
BIBLIOGRAPHY	80

ILLUSTRATIONS

1	Schematic representation of the burn wound classification systems16
2	Schematic representation of wound healing process
3	Schematic representation of the burn wound zones
4	Schematic representation of the experimental design
5	Scheme of PCR conditions
6 points	Representative images of burn wounds of the D B+F group at different time
7	Representative images of burn wounds of the D B group at different time points
8 points	Representative images of burn wounds of the ND B+F group at different time
9 points	Representative images of burn wounds of the ND B group at different time
10	Graph of wound closure for all groups at different time points45
11 points	Representative images of histological sections of all groups at different time
12 Dermis	Graph of mast cells count of all groups at different time points – Burn area – s level
13 Subcut	Graph of mast cells count of all groups at different time points – Burn area – aneous level
14 Dermis	Graph of mast cells count of all groups at different time points – Non Burn area – s level
15 – Subc	Graph of mast cells count of all groups at different time points – Non Burn area utaneous level
16	Representative images of mast cells at different activities
17 points	Graph of IL-6 gene expression as fold change for all the groups at different time
18 time po	Graph of IL-12 gene expression as fold change for all the groups at different bints
19 points	Graph of IL-1α gene expression as fold change for all the groups at different time

S1	Graph of the D B+F group wound areas at different time points7	71
S2	Graph of the D B group wound areas at different time points	71
S3	Graph of the ND B+F group wound areas at different time points	72
S4	Graph of the ND B group wound areas at different time points	72
S5	Graph of all the groups wound areas compared to each other at day 3	73
S6	Graph of all the groups wound areas compared to each other at day 7	73
S7	Graph of all the groups wound areas compared to each other at day 14	.73
S8	Graph of all the groups wound areas compared to each other at day 21	.74
S9	Graph of all the groups wound areas compared to each other at day 28	.74
S10 burn are	Graph of mast cells count of all the groups compared to each other at day 3 - ea	.74
S11 non bur	Graph of mast cells count of all the groups compared to each other at day 3 – m area	- .75
S12 burn are	Graph of mast cells count of all the groups compared to each other at day 7 – ea	- .75
S13 non bur	Graph of mast cells count of all the groups compared to each other at day 7 – m area	.75
S14 burn are	Graph of mast cells count of all the groups compared to each other at day 14 - ea	_ 76
S15 non bur	Graph of mast cells count of all the groups compared to each other at day 14 -	_ .76
S16 burn are	Graph of mast cells count of all the groups compared to each other at day 21 ea	_ .76
S17 non bur	Graph of mast cells count of all the groups compared to each other at day 21 m area	_ .77
S18 burn are	Graph of mast cells count of all the groups compared to each other at day 28 ea	_ .77
S19 non bur	Graph of mast cells count of all the groups compared to each other at day 28 m area	_ .77
S20 points .	Graph of IL-6 expression as fold change for all the groups at different time	79
S21 points .	Graph of IL-12 expression as fold change for all the groups at different time	79
S22 points .	Graph of IL-1α expression as fold change for all the groups at different time	80

TABLE

1	Different pair	rs of primers u	sed in the RT-qPCR	41
---	----------------	-----------------	--------------------	----

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Wound healing is a complex process where a multitude of cells cooperate in order to reestablish the integrity of the affected area or tissue. On the other hand, wound healing in diabetes needs special attention and care, as this process is particularly delayed due to the pathophysiology of the disease. Multiple approaches have been investigated and implemented to improve the burn wound healing in diabetes. However, the application of these methods might be hindered by the abnormal manifestations caused by diabetes. Therefore, the use of innovative practices is of fundamental importance in order to facilitate diabetic wound healing. Among these tactics, autologous fat transplant represents a promising path whose specific contribution has not been fully clarified.

This work is conceived in a way to clarify the exact role of autologous fat tissue in the burn wound healing process in rats. Multiple experimental processes are being implemented to elucidate the multiple facets of the burn wound healing process.

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

A. Burns, a worldwide burden

Burns are defined as a destructive injury of skin or other organic tissue. Their main etiology corresponds to exposure to harmful thermal elements, such as hot liquids or solids, fire, radiation, and electricity (Peck, 2011).

Burns pose a global public health issue as they affect around 11 million individuals per year around the world. Additionally, they are the cause of mortality of approximately 180 000 deaths annually (Greenhalgh, 2019).

Moreover, even when burns are non-fatal, they may impact the quality of life of affected people in various manners. The degree and extension of the burn wounds in addition to the healing and scarring process leave many with life-long disabilities (Brewin & Homer, 2018). On one hand, many burn survivors experience several psychological disturbances during their hospital stay and post discharge, amongst those disturbances we mainly note anxiety, depression, low self-confidence and self-esteem, and Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD). All these could lead the survivors to withdraw from society and enter isolation (Gilboa, 2001; Taal & Faber, 1998). On the other hand, numerous survivors have to live with their scars, even with the best treatment scars are not completely avoidable. Some survivors may suffer from permanent damages to appearance and or function (Herndon, 2007).

Furthermore, they possess a devastating financial load on burn patients and their families. For example, in Norway, burn management performed in a hospital setting costed more than €10.5 million in 2007. Whereas, in South Africa, it is estimated that 26 million USD per annum are spent on burn care caused by paraffin cook stove accidents alone (World Health Organization, 2018).

Nonetheless, in the past few decades, there has been a significant increase in survival of burn patients with extensive and aggressive scarring, this is mainly attributed to the improved surgical and wound management techniques (Brewin & Homer, 2018).

Treatment modalities of burn wounds vary according to degree and depth of the burn injury, they range from simple application of topical creams to surgical interventions such as skin grafting.

One of the most ancient treatments of burn wounds is the application of dressings, in the intent of infection prevention, promotion of re-epithelialization, and preserving water at injury site (Chester & Papini, 2004). Examples of such dressings include, vaseline gauze, silicone sheets, Mepilex, Tegaderm, and hydrocolloids, as well as silver containing dressings (Khundkar et al., 2010; Silverstein et al., 2011; Wasiak et al., 2013).

More recently, advancement in bioengineering has enabled researchers to create dressings and gels whose composition is derived from nature, which can contain substances such as glycosaminoglycan and chitin (Ribeiro et al., 2009; Singh et al., 2008). This type of dressing has been shown to enhance fibroblast proliferation and angiogenesis while also inhibiting the growth of microorganisms (Dai et al., 2009, 2011; Do Nascimento et al., 2009).

Burned skin regions are highly susceptible to infections by various microbes such as, viruses, fungi, as well as gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria. The use of systemic antimicrobials offers an adequate solution to the infections, however, their administration needs to be carefully considered in order to prevent the emergence of resistant organisms (H. F. Liu et al., 2017). Consequently the development of topical antimicrobials designed to specifically target burn wounds associated infections has been the focus of multiple studies (H. F. Liu et al., 2017).

With large total body surface areas (TBSA) involved in burns, the risk of hypovolemic shock increases. Hypovolemic shocks are life threatening, damages at cellular levels happen with the increase in transmembrane potential, leading to a buildup of intercellular sodium and water. Adequate fluid resuscitation done using the golden standards such as the Evans, Brooke and Parkland Formulas, which calculate the needed amount of fluids according to the patient's weight and TBSA, is vital to maintain proper end-organ perfusion and thus prevent the detrimental consequences of hypovolemic shock. The first 24-48 hours post-burn require continuous monitoring and adjustments in fluids administration according to clinical status (Baxter & Shires, 1968; EVANS et al., 1952; Parks et al., 1977; Pruitt et al., 1971; Reiss et al., 1953).

Partial-thickness and full-thickness burns require early excision and grafting of the affected areas, mainly at days 2 through 21 post-burn which are considered of utmost importance for the patient's general survival and outcome. Eschars and blisters if left untreated, no excision or openings done, could lead to further damage due to the ongoing inflammatory cascade. Also to note, the necrotic tissue is a perfect environment for opportunistic gram-positive bacteria to cause cellulitis and hence hinder the healing process by slowing it, causing physiological impairments, contractures and functional deficits. Furthermore, studies have proven that early excision and grafting of the affected areas has lead to a decrease in the hospital length of stay and to a speedier recovery. It has also been noticed that a delay period (24 to 28 hours post-burn) before starting the process of wound excision and grafting, presented improved resuscitation and rectification of physiologic imbalances that enhanced results, in addition to offering time cells at the center of the wound to become necrotic or exhibit sustainability (viability) (Ahuja et al., 2016; Edmondson et al., 2018; Israel et al., 2017).

Another treatment option for wound scars that has been in development since the 1800s and has bloomed in the recent years with more implication and usage in cosmetic and reconstructive surgeries is fat grafting, also referred to as lipofilling. Adipose tissue is a type of connective tissue that is filled with different types of cells, which includes mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). These fat MSCs possess as principal functions, regeneration (self-renewal) and the capability of differentiating into multiple specialized cell types (Marco Klinger et al., 2020). The availability and abundance of fat cells have made them particularly prevalent particularly in subcutaneous tissue or hypodermis. This topic is discussed in more details below.

B. Classification and staging of burns

Accurate assessment and time sensitive treatments have been proven to importantly diminish morbidity and mortality rates emanating from the burn injuries. To decide the most appropriate course of treatment to be adopted for each patient, properly identifying and staging the burn wound extent is vital. From a clinical point of assessment, the depth of burn wounds is examined based on visual appearance, extent of bleeding, capillary refill, and the amount of sensitivity still present in the burn area

(Papini, 2004). Based on that, burn wounds have been categorized differently over the time, there is an old categorization system and a new one, as seen and characterized in Figure 1(Abazari et al., 2020).

Partial thickness burn wounds progress over time, their depth can change. Some wounds that start as superficial partial or deep partial burn injuries may become deep partial or deep burns respectively, in a period between 2 and 4 days after sustaining the injury. Studies have shown that burn injury is a dynamic process, it all peaks around 3 days from injury (Gravante et al., 2006). This progression in the wounds in mainly attributed to the inflammation and necrosis that is happening in the zone of stasis. The zone of stasis is mostly found in mid to deep dermal burns, it is the area of vascular stasis and ischemia, and will be discussed further in the next section (Evers et al., 2010; Jackson, 1953).

Superficial and partial-superficial burn wounds require 1-2 weeks of healing in general, with basic interventions, such as antimicrobial creams application, topical analgesics if needed and monitoring of the injury itself for signs of healing or deterioration in state. Whereas deep partial to full-thickness burn wounds would require invasive surgical interventions for possible excision of tissue and skin grafting (Rangaraju et al., 2019).

In our experimental model the burn reached the dermis with loss of epidermis and superficial part of the dermis reaching to deep part of dermis. It is classified as deep partial according to various criteria in the literature.

New system (old system)	Superficial (first degree)	Superficial partial- thickness (second degree)	Deep partial-thickness (second degree)	Full-thickness (third degree)	Full-thickness (fourth degree)
Etiology	Ultraviolet light, very short flash (flame exposure)	Scald (spill or splash), short flash	Scald (spill), flame, oil, grease	Scald (immersion), flame, steam, oil, grease, chemical, high- voltage electricity	Cause as for deep partial-thickness burns
Histology	Epidermis only	Epidermis and papillary dermis, skin appendages intact	Epidermis and reticular dermis, most skin appendages destroyed	Epidermis and dermis; all skin appendages destroyed	Involves fascia and muscle and/or bone
Clinical features (appearance)	Erythema, dry and pink or red; blanches with pressure	Erythema, blisters; moist, red and weeping; blanches with pressure	Blisters (easily unroofed); wet or waxy dry; variable color (patchy to cheesy white to red); does not blanch with pressure	Waxy white to leathery gray to charred and black; dry and inelastic; does not blanch with pressure	Black (dry, dull, and charred)
Sensation	Painful	Painful to air and	Perceptive of pressure	Deep pressure only	Deep pressure only
Healing time	3 to 6 days	7 to 20 days	More than 21 days	Never (no spontaneous healing)	Never (no spontaneous healing)
Scarring	None	Unusual; potential pigmentary changes, moist, elastic	Severe (hypertrophic) risk of contracture	Very severe risk of contracture, eschar tissue (hard and inelastic)	Eschar tissue (hard and inelastic)
Treatment	Cleaning, cooling with running water or a cold compress, return of full function	Cleaning; cooling with running water or a cold compress, topical agent; sterile dressing, the return of full function	Cleaning; topical agent; sterile dressing; possible surgical excision and grafting; earlier return of function with surgery	As for deep partial- thickness burns plus surgical excision and grafting at the earliest possible time, functional limitation more common if not grafted	Healing requires surgical intervention, functional impairment
Complication	Increase the risk of skin cancer	Local infection, cellulites	Possible skin grafting	Possible amputation	Amputation, gangrene, death
Schematic appearance					

Figure 1 – The Old and New system classification of Burn wound based on Depth (Abazari et al., 2020).

C. Healing

It is well established that when the body sustains an injury, normally, the process of lesion healing starts immediately. It is a complex and dynamic process whereby multiple elements work in an orchestral manner in order to achieve fast recovery and regain ordinary function. It is conceived that wound healing consists of 4 phases which are highly interconnected and might even overlap at times. These phases in chronological order are: hemostasis, inflammation, proliferation, and remodeling, as observed in Figure 2. Each phase is characterized by the predominance of specific cell types, cytokines, growth factors, and extra cellular factors (Kirsner & Eaglstein, 1993; Oryan et al., 2017; Weaver et al., 2018). The complete healing of injuries relies highly on the correct sequence of the phases mentioned above, their occurrence at the accurate timings and their completion/continuation at an optimal intensity as illustrated in figure 2 (Abazari et al., 2020).



Figure 2 – General process for wound healing with the different processes shown in text for burn wounds (Abazari et al., 2020).

1. Hemostasis

Hemostasis is the first phase of the healing process, it is the is shortest phase and denotes to the mechanisms that ultimately halt the hemorrhage. It starts instantly after the injury and it is also referred to as the pro-inflammatory phase (Abazari et al., 2020). Vasoconstriction is the first reaction in this phase, it is directed by the release of thromboxane A2 and prostaglandin 2- α from tissue injury to the wound bed which leads to vasoconstriction of small vessels that exist in the wound to constrict resulting in vasoconstriction. The vasoconstriction portion of this phase has an approximate duration of 5 to 10 minutes, it is followed by the vasodilation portion that has its strongest effect around 20 minutes after the injury. Platelets along with other cells released factors result in the vasodilatory effect such as: epidermal growth factor (EGF), fibronectin, histamine, and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) (Broughton et al., 2006; Foncerrada, Guillermo; Capek, Karel D; Herndon, David N; Lee, Jong O; Sirvent, Ramon Zapata; Finnerty, 2017; Landén et al., 2016).

When subendothelial collagen is exposed to platelets, it leads to platelet aggregation, degranulation and eventually the initiation of the coagulation cascade. Ultimately the degranulation process of platelets results in activation of the complement cascade. All these steps transpire in the activation of the clotting cascade which in turn causes the platelets to gather together and adhere to connective tissue resulting in the fibrin clotting formation also known as thrombus (Broughton et al., 2006; Foncerrada, Guillermo; Capek, Karel D; Herndon, David N; Lee, Jong O; Sirvent, Ramon Zapata; Finnerty, 2017; Landén et al., 2016).

The Hemostasis phase is not orthodox when it comes to burn wounds, since no real bleeding happens; therefore, there is no need to stop it. Nonetheless, in burn wounds, instantly post-injury, capillary permeability considerably increases, this effect is most likely attributed to the local release of histamine, and thus micro vessels lose their capacity to retain fluids away from the interstitial area (Friedl et al., 1989). The loss of fluids and proteins are typically severe and result in the ionic modification of the cells (ischemia) (Kamolz et al., 2012; Tiwari, 2012). These changes lead to systemic hypotension which in turn causes end-organ hypoperfusion (Abazari et al., 2020).

Of course the gravity of these consequences and symptoms depends on the type, location, depth and severity of the burn wounds and the burn zones. Those were first described by Jackson in 1959 and are still referenced to in current literature (Hettiaratchy & Dziewulski, 2004; Kamolz et al., 2012).

Jackson in his research has classified the local changes in burn wounds, into three zones as depicted in figure 3 (Jackson, 1953). The central zone, named zone of coagulation, at the center of wound, mainly consisting of devitalized tissue, complete coagulative necrosis with irreversible tissue loss. The third zone, outermost area, the zone of hyperemia, where vasodilation and inflammatory changes occur, tissue in this zone recovers completely except if there were infections or severe hypoperfusion complications that occurred. The region around the zone of coagulation, in between both zones mentioned above, is the zone of stasis. This zone, is of extreme clinical importance, as it is the area that has the prospective of healing or the contrary, the potential of progressing to a full thickness lesion. The best chance of rescuing this region, is by achieving revascularization within merely a few days, to avoid irreversible tissue death. If this procedure is delayed, there is a significant risk of reperfusion injury, where intracellularly accumulated biproducts of ischemia are converted into toxic reactive oxygen species (ROS), upon re-exposure to high amounts to oxygen (Collard & Gelman, 2001). The resulting oxidative stress can cause detrimental effects in the affected area, mainly the spread of tissue damage due to apoptotic cell death (Jackson, 1953). This phenomenon is seen post major burns of partial thickness degrees. Some studies have

found that inhibition of inducible NO synthase in partial thickness burn wounds has an effect in reducing the rate of apoptosis (Evers et al., 2010).



Figure 3 – The three zones in burn wounds as described by Jackson (Jackson, 1953).

2. Inflammation

Following the hemostasis phase, inflammatory cells migrate to the wound site, this is facilitated by the increased vascular permeability that is mainly due to local histamine release as mentioned above. This phase, known as inflammation, starts directly post infliction of the injury; its general duration is between 1 to 4 days. Although this stage is crucial in wound healing, its exaggeration and prolongation could lead to the arrest of proper regeneration (Landén et al., 2016; Nguyen et al., 2016).

Alterations in this process might occur from the presence of foreign organisms in the wound. Such event typically leads to the activation of the C3 complement cascade which eventually amounts to bacterial lysis. Moreover, more local inflammatory mediators such as cytokines are continuously released at the wound site, where they function as chemoattractant to neutrophils, which in turn act as phagocytes for present pathogens (Broughton et al., 2006; Landén et al., 2016; Sinno & Prakash, 2013). Macrophages which arise from monocytes that are stimulated by fragments of the extracellular matrix (ECM) protein, secrete growth factors in addition to enzymes and cytokines, that have a main role of promoting bacterial killing and phagocytosis. Additionally, macrophages assume the major function of production of EGF and PDGF, which in turn begin the formation of granulation tissue, hence initiating the proliferative and regeneration phases (Abazari et al., 2020).

During later stages of the inflammatory phase, lymphocytes infiltrate the wound site where they might reside even during the remodeling phase. Both cytotoxic and helper T-cells have been proved fundamental in the wound healing process as they produce a plethora of lymphokines linked to the success of wound healing, with particular effects on cellular subsets being in charge of fibroblast replication and collagen synthesis (Agren, 2016; Fishel et al., 1987).

The above mentioned process is not identically followed in burn wounds, whereby histamine acts as a vasoconstrictor consequently increasing blood pressure and vascular permeability at injury site. This leads to decrease in intravascular fluids which in turn could cause hypovolemic shock. Additionally, histamine could activate the kinin system which in turn stimulates the kallikrein-bradykinin system, while also triggering a multiple cascades, mainly to note the complement cascade, coagulation fibrinolytic cascade, and the arachidonic acid cascade (Foncerrada, Guillermo; Capek, Karel D; Herndon, David N; Lee, Jong O ; Sirvent, Ramon Zapata; Finnerty, 2017). The upregulation of metabolites of the latter cascade, specifically prostaglandins, prostacyclin, and thromboxane A2, help in the orchestration of local ischemia as well as edema formation and vasoconstriction. Whereas the instigation of the complement system permits it to control the function of polymorphonuclear leucocytes. Mast cells contribute to the secretion of chemoattractants which are directly responsible for the recruitment of leukocytes to the burn wound sites (Pastar et al., 2014; Rowan et al.,

2015). In addition, monocytes even change their role when it comes to burn wound, beside their main function as active macrophages, they secrete IL-1 and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α). They also regulate the synthesis of other important factors, such as IL-6 and acute phase proteins (Pastar et al., 2014; Rowan et al., 2015).

3. Proliferation

Proliferation is the phase that follows inflammation, it starts at day 4 post injury and lasts till approximately 2 weeks (14 days) post injury. It continues with the beginning of the maturational phase also known as remodeling phase. In this phase, there is release of multiple types of cells that direct several migration and proliferation processes (detailed below), with the main aim of restoring the vascular network and granulation tissue formation. This phase is made possible by the capability of regeneration and healing of the epidermis, due to it being originated from the ectoderm (Lau et al., 2009).

First the keratinocytes present at the basal layer of the wound edge along with epithelial stem cells from local hair follicles and sweat glands, migrate to the surface of the wound where they differentiate into epithelial cells under the influence of multiple stimuli. Thereafter, these cells begin to divide and proliferate forming a granulation tissue that separates the wound from the surrounding environment. This process is known as reepithelialization. At a deeper level in the wound, fibroblasts proliferate and begin to secrete collagen which in turn becomes a scaffold for further fibroblasts proliferation and the subsequent ECM production (Tracy et al., 2016; M. Xue & Jackson, 2015).

A vital part in wound repair is the availability of oxygen and nutrients, this is made possible by proper blood supply which is guaranteed by formation of new blood vessels (angiogenesis). This event is initiated by the migration and proliferation of endothelial cells under the influence of multiple growth factors (Broughton et al., 2006; Sinno & Prakash, 2013).

Unlike the phases mentioned previously, this phase of the wound healing is almost the same for burn wounds when compared to other wound types. The reepithelization occurs within a few hours of the injury, this stage depends on the depth and severity of the burn injury. For example, in first degree burns where the basement membrane preserves its integrity, the cells undergo normal upward migration, thus a normal layer of the epidermis is restored within 2 to 3 days from injury due to its replenishment by intact progenitor epithelial cells. Conversely, in deeper burn injuries, where the basement membrane sustained damage, it is the cells from the appendages and the wound peripheries that migrate to insure reepithelialization of the wound. The restoration of connective tissue post reepithelialization takes place due to the proliferation of fibroblasts, which begin to deposit collagen. There is also an initiation of angiogenesis and fibrogenesis, which are integral components in the reconstruction of the dermis. Finally, the wound edges start to contract and continues to do so during the maturation phase, nevertheless scars and scabs could still be formed during this phase (Foncerrada, Guillermo; Capek, Karel D; Herndon, David N; Lee, Jong O; Sirvent, Ramon Zapata; Finnerty, 2017; Hettiaratchy & Dziewulski, 2004; Landén et al., 2016).

This migration is the basic mechanism by which interstices meshed splitthickness skin grafts work, they are filled in by keratinocytes coming from the skin bridges. The biological properties of the epidermis and its renewal characteristics are currently of large interest in research, with possibilities of translating this into technology that can be used in the clinical context, improving wound healing outcomes (Lau et al., 2009).

4. Maturation

The last phase of wound healing is called maturation or remodeling, and it can extend from months to years. The matrix becomes more organized due to fibroblast cells migrating out of the wound bed and the remodeling of collagen. Scar tissue arises from granular tissue which could happen two weeks after injury.

The increased cross linking between the collagen fibers leads to a rise in the mechanical tension at the level of the wound. Besides myofibroblasts that differentiate from fibroblasts under the influence of cytokines, begin to secrete and remodel ECM components through enzyme secretion. An example is the substitution of collagen III by collagen I, which leads to further enhancement of the tensile strength. The resulting cumulative tensile strength is responsible for wound contracture. Ultimately, when healing is complete, myofibroblasts undergo apoptosis (Sinno & Prakash, 2013). Angiogenesis at this stage declines, allowing the establishment of an avascular and acellular environment. The depth or wound severity controls the degree in which appendages are recovered, such as hair follicles and sweat glands in the skin, complete healing is not always achievable (Broughton et al., 2006; Darby et al., 2014; B. Li & Wang, 2011).

As Gabriel stated in his research in 2009, the primary molecular mechanisms directing the progression of the burn wound include, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) and transforming growth factor-ß

(TGF- β). In the first stage of wound healing TGF- β is vital for the activation and proliferation of fibroblasts.

Prolonged activity of TGF-β is connected with hypertrophic scars and wound contraction that lead to deformity. In Gabriel's experimental models, the procedure of using TGF-β neutralizing antibodies showed a decline in scar development without undesirably disturbing wound healing (Gabriel, 2009).

However, depth and severity are still important determinants of the outcomes and the progression of remodeling, contraction and scar formation. In superficial burns, for example, hyperpigmentation due to overreaction of melanocytes is observed, whereas hypopigmentation is seen in deeper wounds due to the death of melanocytes. Furthermore, in deep burns it is established that remodeling takes more time, while skin contraction and scar formation are more probable (Carr-Collins, 1992; De Chalain et al., 1998; Foncerrada, Guillermo; Capek, Karel D; Herndon, David N; Lee, Jong O ; Sirvent, Ramon Zapata; Finnerty, 2017; Greenhalgh, 2015; Grover & Morgan, 1996; Landén et al., 2016; Tiwari, 2012).

D. Involvement of mast cells in wound healing

Mast cells have hematopoietic precursors which migrate into tissues and differentiate into their mature forms characterized by numerous electrodense cytoplasmic granules. They are found distributed throughout the body with concentration at the level of the dermis and the epithelial lamina propria. They are typically present in the epidermis under pathological conditions (Artuc et al., 1999; WEBER et al., 1995). The granules contained inside mast cells house a variety of molecules, which can be released upon stimulation from the microenvironment that surrounds the cell. Among these chemicals lie important messengers that partake in wound healing, such as cytokines, chemokines, growth factors and histamine. These mediators might be responsible for multiple steps that occur during wound healing, such as vasodilation and influx of inflammatory cells (Czarnetzki et al., 1995; Möller et al., 1998; Rumsaeng et al., 1997). Besides, these granules might be phagocytized by fibroblasts and endothelial cells, leading to the continuously increased levels of histamine at the site of injury, which in turn results in the effects of histamine described above (Seibold et al., 1990).

Moreover, mast cells participate in the formation of granulation tissue, alongside fibroblasts and macrophages (Bolton & Montagna, 1993), where they might enhance the release of interleukins, namely IL 1 (Bechtel et al., 1996). Under the influence of this cytokine and many others, mast cells synthesize and secrete nerve growth factor (NGF) (Di Marco et al., 1991). This pleiotropic factor is a chemoattractant to neutrophils and an enhancer to their phagocytosis (Kawamoto et al., 1995). It stimulates nerve ends to secrete substances such as the neuropeptide VIP (vasoactive intestinal peptide), which in turn acts as mitogen for keratinocytes (Wilkinson et al., 1994).

On the other hand, mast cells located at proximity to capillaries may in fact contribute to the improvement of angiogenesis, by releasing angiogenic factors like bFGF (basic Fibroblast Growth Factor) and TGF- β (Transforming Growth Factor) and VEGF (Vascular endothelial growth factor) (Grützkau et al., 1998; NILSSON et al., 1995; Qu et al., 1995). Furthermore, mast cells have been correlated with the maintenance of the long lasting integrity of vascular endothelium (Watanabe et al.,

1997). Additionally, mast cells could release proteases which are involved in regulating the process of angiogenesis (Gruber et al., 1989).

The mast cells proteases might have other roles in wound healing. For example, tryptase could induce fibroblast mitosis, thus empowering collagen synthesis and secretion, while also modifying extracellular matrix components (F. Levi-Schaffer & Rubinchik, 1995; Francesca Levi-Schaffer & Kupietzky, 1990; Ruoss et al., 1991; Schwartz, 1990). However, this enzyme might also inhibit the proliferation of keratinocytes (Harvima et al., 1994; NADEL, 1991). Another instance is chymase, which can enhance the formation of angiotensin II, an inducer of keratinocyte proliferation (Muscha Steckelings et al., 1996; Sanker et al., 1997).

E. Important roles of selected interleukins

As mentioned before, a plethora of cytokines, chemokines and growth factors interplay in the burn wound healing process. In this review we selected specifically IL-12, IL-6 and IL-1α.

IL-12 is considered a pro-inflammatory interleukin that enhances the differentiation of naïve T-cells into T effector cells (Matias et al., 2011; Trinchieri et al., 2003). It has also been shown to have effect in neutrophil recruitment into the wound bed (Gillitzer, 2001), and possesses an anti-angiogenic activity, through the increase of interferon gamma (IFN-g) secretion (Voest et al., 1995). On the other hand, its absence could achieve an accelerated reepithelization process as its roles in regulating early inflammation responses and angiogenesis would be eliminated (Matias et al., 2011).

IL-6 is also considered as a pro-inflammatory interleukin, it acts as a chemoattractant substance to neutrophils, and has powerful mitosis inducing effects on

keratinocytes (Werner & Grose, 2003a). Several studies have shown that IL-6 has a particularly important role in the early phase of inflammation, it is suggested that IL-6 may be a regulator of leukocyte recruitment to the inflammatory sites (Akira & Kishimoto, 1992). In addition, there is evidence that it also has a crucial role in angiogenesis via inducing VEGF expression. It also enhances collagen deposition at wound sites, by inducing collagen production and/or procollagen gene expression in multiple types of cells including dermal fibroblasts, making IL-6 an important factor in remodeling not only in inflammation (Duncan & Berman, 1991; Greenwel et al., 1993; Lin et al., 2003). Moreover the lack of IL-6 may lead to the delay of re-epithelization indirectly through a decrease in TGF-1 β (Lin et al., 2003). Furthermore IL-6 upregulates the expression of another fundamental interleukin implicated in wound healing, which is IL-1.

The latter regulates the expression of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICMA-1), important regulators of leukocyte extravagation (Lin et al., 2003). This pro-inflammatory cytokine instigates the migration and proliferation of keratinocytes, while also stimulating the production of fibroblast growth factors (Werner & Grose, 2003a). IL-1 and IL-6 are irreplaceable in wound healing, as their absence would lead to a slower healing process (Eming et al., 2007; Ishida et al., 2004).

F. Diabetes

In the past 25 years, there have been many advances in the research about diabetes, which have led to better understanding of the disease, its pathophysiology, and its increasing complications. In the past, diabetes type 1 was sought to be only a

juvenile disorder, affecting children and adolescents, new studies have shown that diabetes type 1 cases occur with up to 50% in adulthood (Thomas et al., 2018).

Diagnosing diabetes type 1 in children and adolescents relies primarily on the classic trio symptoms, polydipsia, polyphagia and polyuria, in addition to overt hyperglycemia. However these diagnostic hallmarks are less reliable in the adult cases. Another trademark of this disease is the immediate need for exogenous insulin substitution, this treatment is life lasting and could be lifesaving (Atkinson et al., 2014).

Diabetes type 1 was once considered to be a single autoimmune disorder, which rises from T-cell mediated attacks on the insulin-producing β cells, now it is contemplated as being the outcome of intricate interactions among environmental factors and microbiome, genome, metabolism, and the immune system that differ amid singular cases (Dimeglio et al., 2018).

Even though there are genetic predispositions and underpinnings for diabetes, a person's DNA sequence dose not dictate that they must end up with diabetes, even when having the utmost risk combination of HLA (human leukocyte antigen) alleles, which has made primary prevention of this disease quite difficult (Dimeglio et al., 2018).

Diabetes is now known as a multisystem disorder, the complications that arise from it cause physiological changes at the level of cells and tissues, these ultimately lead to an impaired wound healing process. This interaction is quite complex, and little is known about it. It is obvious that diabetic wounds become arrested in the inflammatory phase of the healing process, which is described extensively previously. It is important to note that the continuous influx of neutrophils and inflammatory mediators produce large collateral damage to the surrounding wound tissue. Wound

healing is delayed primarily due to the disturbance in the healing process, where the overproduction of free radicals stimulates oxidative stress to the tissue (Dissemond et al., 2002; Soneja et al., 2005; V, 2000). Besides, diabetic wound healing is characterized by decreased angiogenesis, due to a decline in the number of endothelial progenitor cells (EPC) (Loomans et al., 2004; Tepper et al., 2002). (98)

Therefore, to improve wound healing in diabetics, the introduction of antiinflammatory agents might be beneficial as it could halt the constant inflammation process (Dissemond et al., 2002). On the other hand, diabetes is marked by a remarkable decrease in the growth factors secreted at wound site such as VEGF (Frank et al., 1995), which have a main role in stimulating keratinocyte proliferation and correct wound closure (Pastore et al., 2008; Peplow & Chatterjee, 2013; Werner & Grose, 2003b). Finally, a decrease in collagen formation is observed accompanied by a delay in the process of change of fibroblast into myofibroblast (DiPietro & Burns, 2003).

Moreover, it has been shown that neutrophil functions are impaired in diabetic patients. As these cells in collaboration with other polymorphonuclears are fundamental for the formation of an inflammatory band, and the secretion of an abundance of growth factors and cytokines, their hindrance results in dampening the healing process (Collison et al., 2002; Shah et al., 1983; Wetzler et al., 2000). This phenomenon has been correlated with an increase in the formation of AGE (advanced glycation end products) in diabetes. AGE acts as a ligand for its receptor RAGE, whose expression has been shown to be increased in diabetes, on the surface of neutrophils. Additionally the blockage of their interactions does in fact enhance wound healing in diabetic mice (Basta et al., 2002; Collison et al., 2002; Hudson et al., 2003; Nelson et al., 1975; Shah et al., 1983; Stern et al., 2002). Furthermore, a study has demonstrated that in diabetic

rats inflammatory cells failed to form the inflammation band at the site of the injury, even though these cells were accumulated all over the injury site. They also secreted elevated amounts of inflammatory cytokines, namely IL-1 α and TNF- α (Tian et al., 2016). Their persistent high level can be closely related to the delay in granulation tissue formation (Roth et al., 2006; Wetzler et al., 2000). Other than PMNs, diabetes has also been correlated with a deviation of macrophage activation during wound healing, resulting in abnormal sequence of events (Miao et al., 2012).

G. Role of fat in wound healing

Burn injury management mechanisms have been newly focusing on the reduction in the inflammatory response in the initial phase of the injury and the acute influx of cytokines. Additionally, these new approaches try to regulate the fibroblast-myofibroblast activities, hence decreasing scar formation and wound contractures without hindering the wound healing and repair process (Holland et al., 2008). In order to accomplish these goals, stem cells have become a widespread option these days.

Stem cells have been already examined for their potency in skin regeneration and wound healing, however their use as a novel treatment approach for burn wounds is being currently investigated. Studies have found that collagen–glycosaminoglycan constructs planted with mesenchymal stem cells increase healing and keratinization, reduce wound contracture and improve vascularization. Therefore, pluripotent stem cells could be used in the development of skin replacements, specifically in burn wounds (P. Liu et al., 2008). Among these, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have shown the capacity to enhance the repair process at cellular and matrix levels. They also may secrete chemicals that can regulate the activity of other cells (paracrine activity).

Human MSCs seem to be particularly potent in ameliorating wound healing (Rosique et al., 2015; Singer & Caplan, 2011).

Lipofilling, a practice described since the 1980s, is the use of fat transferred from one area of the body to another in cosmetic surgery procedures for body remodeling. This method increases the volume of the area to correct a contour deficit. Currently, its use has gone beyond only cosmetic surgery, it is in fact used for several clinical applications including wound healing (M Klinger et al., 2008).

In a study that used adipose tissue for remodeling of severe old burn scars, histological sections from punch biopsies after the fat injections showed remarkable patterns of new collagen deposition, and local hypervascularity along with dermal hyperplasia. In addition, the use of fat tissue had improved the formation of normal annexal structures, with better structural and architectural preservation of the tissue when compared to scar tissues from burns (M Klinger et al., 2008).

Moreover, in a study in drosophila concerning skin wound healing with fat cells transfer, it was observed that adipocytes have motility and migration properties which aid in wound repair and prevention of infection (Franz et al., 2018).

Some studies have also focused on the use of lipostructure technique to treat chronic vascular sores and radiodermatitis. A positive outcome was seen in the target area (Rigotti et al., 2007).

This recent exploration of fat in multiple medical fields is due to its microstructural properties. Adipose tissue which has an extracellular matrix containing collagens, laminin, fibronectin and growth factors along with its cellular components are being considered as stem cells sources. Besides, adipose stem cells have shown the capacity to differentiate not only into fat cells, but also to cartilage, bone, muscle, and
even nerve. Therefore, these cells are multipotent, capable of regeneration and responsive to gene therapy Furthermore, their collection is performed in a less aggressive way than their bone marrow counterparts (P. A. Zuk et al., 2001; Patricia A. Zuk et al., 2002).

What is particularly attractive about fat cells is that they are abundant in the body, expendable and can very easily be harvested in a safe technique with minimal complications (liposuction), which yields a high number of cells (De Ugarte et al., 2003; Tholpady et al., 2006).

CHAPTER III

AIM

This study was conducted, in order to gain a better understanding of the role of autologous fat tissue transfer in burn wounds in diabetic rat model. As fat contains pluripotent stem cells, their mobilization and differentiation into cell types that participate in wound healing, might enhance and accelerate this process. Therefore, we aimed to identify the effects of untreated autologous fat transplant at different stages of the burn wound healing. We explored its role on the morphology of the wound and then, we tried to unravel the effects of the applied treatment at histological level, with focus on reepithelization, movement of the fat cells and the presence of mast cells at the site of injury. Afterward, we dove into the molecular changes taking place with specific focus on some interleukins that are typically involved in wound healing, IL-6, IL-12, and IL-1 α .

CHAPTER IV

MATERIALS & METHODS

The experimental design included both in-vivo and in-vitro methodologies.

A. Animal work

A total of 80 Sprague-Dawley adult male rats,200-250g weight, were used according to the guidelines of the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the American University of Beirut (IACUC). The rats were kept in a controlled environment in the animal care facility with a day night cycle 12/12 and free quantities food and water.

The rats were divided into 4 groups, 20 rats in group 1 diabetic rats with burn only, 20 rats group 2 diabetic rats with burn and autologous adipocyte tissue (Fat) transposition, 20 rats in group 3 non diabetic rats with burn only, 20 rats in group 4 non diabetic rats with burn and autologous fat transposition.



Figure 4 – Diagram of the experimental design.

Once rats were received at the animal care facility grouping was done according to approximate weights, 4 rats were placed in the same cage at first and marking for differentiation was done for all the rats, along with recording of initial weights and blood glucose levels.

B. Diabetes Type I induction

Once the rats reached the desired weights between 200 and 250 gr the Sterptozotocin (STZ) injections for the diabetic group started. Diabetes was induced, by a 60mg/kg intravenous (in tail vein) injection of STZ once, within 3 days of injections. Blood glucose levels were measured at days 3 and 7 post injections to confirm Diabetes induction. Some of the rats did not become diabetic from the first injection of STZ, they thus required a second injection with the same dosage to induce Diabetes at day 7. Additionally, glucose serum levels and body weights were monitored for all rats at all set time points of the experiment.

C. Burn and Surgery

Operations were performed between day 7 and day 10 post injections. The interscapular region was selected as a site of burn and fat transplantation, since it is protected, unreachable from the rats themselves.

Anesthesia was performed by intraperitoneal injections of a mixture of Ketamine with a dose of 80mg/kg and Xylazine with a dose of 10 mg/kg. The operation was done in a clean environment with sterilized surgical equipment.

All animals were shaved for the procedures, on the dorsal side (animal's back) the intrascapular region was shaved using a commercial electric shaving machine, this was done post induction of sedation. Only the animals that underwent the fat transfer operation had been shaved on their ventral side as well, as a source for the autologous fat.

A second degree burn was done (deep partial-thickness wound) was performed at 80°c for 2 mins to achieve second degree burns for all the rats in all the groups alike, using an ordinary soldering iron (20W) retrofitted with 2.5 cm diameter aluminum stamp.

As for the rats in the fat transfer groups, harvesting of autologous fat was done through an incision of 0.5 cm in the right lower quadrant of the animal's abdomen, once a sample of fat of size at least 0.5 cm width and length was harvested it was placed in a dish with 0.9% NSS sterile solution until it was transplanted in the animal's interscapular region deep to the burn wound. Then the incision in animal's abdomen was sutured. An incision was done at the edge of the burn wounds and the fat was placed deep to the wound. Suturing of the incision was done after that. For the groups of Animals that received fat transposition the burning and operation were done consecutively on the same day. Both incisions on dorsal and ventral were sutured using 3-0 Monofilament Nylon C-14.

Four animals from each of the different four groups were sacrificed on each of the experiment's time points post operatively, days 3-7-14-21-28 post-burn.

Blood glucose levels, Weight, and pictures with measurements of the wounds were done for all the animals at the procedure day and at the 5 time points of the experiment including the animals that were sacrificed on each of the time points. The clinical status of the burn was checked on daily basis.

Clinical monitoring was done by observing the rats feeding and water drinking habits, in addition to wound progression. Wound size was measured at each time point with a cm ruler, and the surface area was calculated by multiplying width by length.

Sacrifice was done by inhaled anesthesia, through a continuous flow of Isoflurane to the rats. Once the samples from the wounds were taken while the rats were still under effect of the anesthesia, cervical dislocation was done.

On the days of sacrifice the wound was excised into 4 different sections, the first section was placed in a cassette and into formaldehyde, for sectioning and staining. The second and third sections were placed in Eppendorf tubes and directly put into liquid nitrogen later on transferred to the -80 °C Fridge, these sections were destined for PCR and Western Blot analysis. And the fourth section was placed in aluminum foil paper and put into liquid nitrogen then was also placed in the -80 fridge, this section was later destined to be used for ROS.

D. Histological studies

Biopsies from wounds destined for routine histology were fixed in 10% formalin and embedded in paraffin, sectioned into 5 µm thick sections. 6 slides were taken from every sample, with 2 sections per slide. Each 2 slides received a different type of stain: either Hematoxylin-Eosin (H&E), or Toluidine Blue (TB), or Periodic Acid-Schiff (PAS).

H&E slides were used to better understand at a tissue level the progression of the healing process. Images of selected fields were taken of the slides by Olympus E330 camera connected to a CX41RF Olympus light microscope. Mast cells count was done

on the histological slides stained with TB, using Olympus light microscope, at magnification 400x.

E. Molecular studies

1. Protein extraction and quantification

For protein extraction, the frozen samples were crushed and transferred to a tube containing 980 microliters of Laemmli buffer with 10 microliters Protein inhibitor and 10 microliters Phosphatase inhibitor. The samples were then centrifuged at 13000 rpm at 4 degrees Celsius for 15 mins, and then the supernatant was transferred to a new tube and placed at -80 °C.

Proteins concentrations were determined using LOWRY assay (Bio-Rad DC Protein Assay Reagents A (#500-0113), B (#500-0799) and S (#500-0115)) using a BSA/Bovine Serum Albumin (Amresco #9048-46-8) gradient as a standard.

2. Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

For RNA extraction, the frozen samples were crushed and transferred to a tube containing 1 ml of Trizol (Sigma-Aldrich). After mixing the samples well with the Trizol, 250 microliters of Choloroform were added to each tube. The contents of the tube were then vortexed and centrifuged at 1200 G at 4 degrees Celsius for 15 mins. Supernatant was removed and placed in new tubes, then 500 microliters of Isopropanol were added, mixed gently by inversion, and placed in freezer at -20 degree Celsius for 10-15 mins. Then they get centrifuged again at 1200 G at 4 degrees C for 15 mins. The supernatant was then discarded and palette was kept and washed twice by 75% ethanol with a volume of 750 microliters.

The washes were performed as follows: after adding ethanol samples were inverted gently and centrifuged at 7.5 G for 10 mins at 4 degrees C, supernatants were discarded and the pellets were kept to air dry a few mins, then 20 microliters of RNAse free water were added.

Complementary DNA (cDNA) was synthesized using QuantiTect Reverse Transcription Kit (Qiagen # 205311) with a final volume of 20 microliters. The c-DNA was then diluted with a dilution factor of 10.

Quantitative real-time Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) was performed in a 96 well plate. In each well, 2 microliters of c-DNA were placed and 8 microliters of the mix corresponding to the desired gene were added. The plate was then placed in

Real-Time Bio-Rad CFX96.

The relative gene expression was normalized against the expression of a housekeeping gene GAPDH (Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase). The relative gene expression was then normalized compared to the control and expressed as delta delta CT.

IL-1a mix: _

_

IL-

	0	0.5 microliters of IL-1α Forward 0.5 microliters of IL-1α Reverse
	0	5 microliters Sybr green
	0	2 microliters RNAse Free water
IL-6 mix:		
	0	0.5 microliters of IL-6Forward
	0	0.5 microliters of IL-6 Reverse
	0	5 microliters Sybr green
	0	2 microliters RNAse Free water
IL-12 mix:		
	0	0.5 microliters of IL-12 Forward
	0	0.5 microliters of IL-12 Reverse
	0	5 microliters Sybr green

o 2 microliters RNAse Free water

Gene Name	Sequence Forward Primer	Tm °C	Sequence Reverse Primer	Tm °C	Ta °C
GAPD H	5'- AGACAGCCGCATCTTCTTGT -3'	60	5'- CTTGCCGTGGGTAGAGTCAT-3'	60	60
IL-1 a	5'-AGGGAGTCAACTCATTGGCG-3'	59.9	5'-GGACAGTCGAGGAGCAAACA-3'	59.9	59. 9
IL-12	5'- ATCATCAAACCGGACCCACC-3'	60	5'-CAGGAGTCAGGGTACTCCCA-3'	60	60
IL -6	5'-CTGGTCTTCTGGAGTTCCGTT -3'	60	5'- ATGAGAGATGGGGACGCACT -3'	60	60

Table 1 – Different pairs of primers used in the RT-qPCR



Figure 5 – Scheme of PCR conditions

F. Statistical analysis

Data were expressed as the mean \pm SEM and analyzed with t-tests via the

GraphPad Prism 7 software as described in the figures' legends.

Significance was recorded using: * for p value < 0.05, ** for p value < 0.01 and *** for p value < 0.001.

CHAPTER V

RESULTS

A. Effect of fat transfer on the wound area

To study the effect of fat transfer on the wound size, the surface area of each burn wound was calculated for each rat at each time point (days 3,7,14,21, and 28). The wound area of each group was compared to the control group Non-Diabetic Burn (ND B) by a t-test. Representative images of each group at different time points are seen in figures 6 to 9 and histogram 10.

As seen in figure 10, the wound areas were similar for all 4 studied groups at day 3. However, starting at day 7, differences could be observed. The wound area for the groups treated with fat both diabetic and non diabetic (D B+F and ND B+F) decreased significantly compared to the control (p-values < 0.001), regardless of the diabetic status of the rat. While, the wound area of the diabetic burn group (D B) in the absence of fat increased significantly compared to the control (p-value < 0.05), as seen in figure 10.

Progressing to day 14, the fat-treated groups (D B+F and ND B+F) continued to show significant decrease in wound area compared to the control (p-values < 0.001), as seen in figure 10. Moving to day 21, only the D B+F group showed significant decrease compared to the control, with a p-value < 0.05 (figure 15). Similar observations were made at day 28 (figure 18).

The D B group stopped showing any significant changes compared to the control from day 10 onwards, while the ND B+F group showed no significant changes compared to the control starting at day 21, meaning early improvement.

Therefore, the fat transfer appears to accelerate the wound contracture and healing process. Additionally, the fat transfer exerts its most observed effect on wound size day 14 and onwards. This observation could be noticed when comparing the wound area of each group to itself while taking the wound area at day 3 as a baseline (figures 6 to 10).

In brief, autologous fat decreased wound areas at all time points compared to absence of fat (figure 10).



Figure 6 – Representative images of the wounds of the 4 rats of the group D B+F throughout the 5 time-points, starting from day 3 to day 28.



Figure 7 – Representative images of the wounds of the 4 rats of the group D B throughout the 5 time-points, starting from day 3 to day 28



Figure 8 – Representative images of the wounds of the 4 rats of the group ND B+F throughout the 5 time-points, starting from day 3 to day 28



Figure 9 – Representative images of the wounds of the 4 rats of the group ND B throughout the 5 time-points, starting from day 3 to day 28



Figure 10 – Wound closure for all groups at different time points. Wound areas obtained from the 4 different sacrificed rats at each time point were calculated. Data were expressed as percentages of the mean of the ND B group at p3. At each time point, each group was compared to ND B of the same time point via t-test. For D B+F *** for P < 0.001. ** for P < 0.01. For ND B+F ### for P < 0.001. For D B \$ for P < 0.05.

B. Effect of fat transfer on the wound healing at the histological level

To study the effect of fat transfer on wound healing at the tissue level, the H&E-

stained and TB- stained histological sections obtained at different time points were

studied thoroughly. Representative images of each group at different time points are seen in figure 11.

At day 3 post operatively (post-op), all groups showed almost a similar histological state of healing. One could clearly see the burnt area with inflammation and disorganized tissue. However, the groups that include fat transfers (D B+F and ND B+F) showed fat cells migration throughout the tissue and less inflammation reaction.

At day 7 post-op, groups D B+F, ND B and ND B+F all show the beginning of formation of an epithelial lining at the edges. The ND B group is also characterized by the existence of more granulomatous tissue, which are masses of immune cells and other tissue (necrotic) that form at sites of infection or inflammation. The ND B+F group also displayed formation of blood vessels, which entails vascularization of the area, that is part of the healing process. Inflammation was well noted especially at the site where the fat had been placed. The transferred fat cells now have lost their fat lobules and are behaving differently, this could be due to them losing their direct blood supply due to the surgical procedure. We found in that area mostly aggregated nucleated cells, showing dark nuclei, arranged next to each other; these could be helping in the healing process through secreting various products. Whereas in the D B group, the burnt skin was still prominent, no growth signs were noted, no epithelial lining beginning its formation was seen, and no skin appendages could be observed. However, the inflammatory process is obvious in the dermis/hypodermis area with granulation tissue and fibroblast.

At day 14 post-op, groups D B+F, ND B+F and ND B all displayed the formation of more than 2 layers of epithelial cells lining, with some blood vessels and hair bulb formations. In addition, the D B+F group demonstrated hair follicles and skin

appendages which were notably formed myofibroblasts were increased. The transferred fat cells have changed form, and lost their lobules. There was an abundance of inflammatory cells in that area with an ongoing inflammatory reaction where the fat cells were placed. While the D B group exhibited disorganized epithelial lining beginning to form, with some primordial skin appendages. Inflammation was also well noted. Mast cells degranulating or ghost cells and blood vessels could be seen with some blood cells formation. Collagen fibers were also present in an unorganized manner along with some myofibroblasts.

At day 21 post-op, all groups demonstrate multiple epithelial layers formed. The D B+F group had in addition well-formed sebaceous glands with their respective ducts. Hair follicles and hair shafts were present. There was no visible scar tissue. There was also an abundance of collagen fibers that are aiding in the healing process. While the ND B+F group still had some slight residue of scar tissue.

Besides, the ND B group displayed some more granulomatous tissue. Furthermore, the D B group still had scar tissue attached. There was also an abundance of collagen fibers, that were not well organized, noted with multiple inflammatory cells and on TB staining there were numerous mast cells and fibroblasts which probably helped in wound contraction and collagen production. These findings contribute to the assumption that healing is still ongoing at Day 21 in this group of animals, which can be labeled as relatively delayed or prolonged healing process taking place.

At day 28 post-op, groups D B+F, ND B+F and ND B, all had clear and wellformed skin layers and skin tissue, with all its appendages, hair follicles, and sebaceous glands. No more inflammatory processes were noted. Similarly, the D B group now had better organized tissue with less inflammation and better organized collagen fibers.

Nonetheless there was still ongoing a process of collagen formation whilst it was less prominent than at day 21 post-op.

Therefore, the fat transfer appeared to enhance and accelerate the wound healing process at cellular and tissue levels, with influences on the inflammatory process and epithelial layers formation as well as fibroblast differentiation and migration.



Figure 11 – Representative images of H&E-stained histological sections obtained from the 4 rats of each group at days 3, 7, 14, 21, and 28. Arrows pointing to important structures mentioned in text above.

C. Effect of fat transfer on the mobilization of mast cells in the burnt area : active participants

Based on growing evidence supporting the role of mast cells in tissue repair and scar formation, the effect of fat transfer on the mast cells abundance and activity was studied. The mast cells count was done on the histological slides stained with toluidine blue (TB) for each rat at different time points (days 3,7,14,21, and 28). Each slide had 2 main sections, and in each section there were burn and the non burn areas. In each area, counting was performed at the surface level and at the subcutaneous level. Data are expressed as averages of mast cells counts throughout the different time points. At each time point, the presence of mast cells and their degranulation state in the wound area of each group was compared to the control group Non-Diabetic Burn (ND B) by a t-test.

On day 3, at the site of the non-burn area, the mast cell count increased significantly for the D B group compared to the control group ND B at both dermis and the subcutaneous levels with p-values of < 0.01 and < 0.001 respectively. Minor increases in mast cell count were observed at both the dermis and the subcutaneous levels for the ND B+F and D B+F groups, with the latter (the diabetic) having a significant upsurge at the dermal level compared to the ND B group (p-value < 0.05) (Figures 14 -15). However, at day 3, at the site of the burn area, less mast cell counts were seen at the subcutaneous level for all the different treatments compared to the ND B group (Figure 13). Whereas, at the dermal level, all the different groups showed decreases in mast cell counts compared to the control, with significance (p-value < 0.05) observed for the ND B+F group . Therefore, the presence of fat on day 3 controlled the number of mast cells.

On day 7, the presence of fat significantly decreased the mast cell count at the site of the non-burn areas at the subcutaneous level with p-values of < 0.05 and < 0.01 for D B+F and ND B+F respectively (Figure 15). No significant changes of the mast cell count were seen at the dermal level of the non burn area, nor at the dermal or the subcutaneous levels of the burn area at day 7, as all groups had similar mast cell counts. This trend continued on day 14 for both the dermal and subcutaneous levels at both the burn and non-burn areas, where all groups showcased alike mast cell counts (Figures 12 to 15).

On day 21, at the site of the non-burn area, only the D B group showed a considerable upsurge from the control ND B group at the dermal level. Nevertheless, at the subcutaneous level, all different groups showed a substantial rise in mast cell count compared to the ND B group, with ND B+F and D B groups showing significance (p-values of <0.05 and <0.01 respectively) (Figure 15). Moving into the burn area, all treatments showed considerable increases in mast cell counts compared to the control group, with the groups D B+F and D B showing significance at the dermal level while the ND B+F and D B groups showed significance at the subcutaneous level (Figures 12 – 13).

On day 28, all the groups showed comparable mast cell counts at the subcutaneous level of the non-burn area. While group D B distinctively showed a significant increase in mast cell count compared to the control group at the dermal level of the non-burn area (Figure 14). At the site of the burn area, the ND B+F and D B groups showed significant upsurges in mast cell counts at the dermal and subcutaneous levels when compared to the control, whereas the D B+F demonstrated lower increases at both levels (Figures 12 - 13).



Figure 12 – Mast cell count at dermis level in the burn area for all groups at different time points. Mast cell count obtained from the 4 different sacrificed rats at each time point were calculated. Data were expressed as percentages of the mean of the ND B group at p3. At each time point, each group was compared to ND B of the same time point via t-test. For D B+F * for P < 0.05. For ND B+F # for P < 0.05. For D B \$\$ for P < 0.01.



Figure 13 – Mast cell count at subcutaneous level in the burn area for all groups at different time points. Mast cell count obtained from the 4 different sacrificed rats at each time point were calculated. Data were expressed as percentages of the mean of the ND B group at p3. At each time point, each group was compared to ND B of the same time point via t-test. For ND B+F ## for P < 0.01. # for P < 0.05. For D B \$\$ for P < 0.01. \$ for P < 0.05



Figure 14 – Mast cell count at dermis level in the non burn area for all groups at different time points. Mast cell count obtained from the 4 different sacrificed rats at each time point were calculated. Data were expressed as percentages of the mean of the ND B group at p3. At each time point, each group was compared to ND B of the same time point via t-test. For D B+F * for P < 0.05. For D B \$\$ for P < 0.01.



Figure 15 – Mast cell count at subcutaneous level in the non burn area for all groups at different time points. Mast cell count obtained from the 4 different sacrificed rats at each time point were calculated. Data were expressed as percentages of the mean of the ND B group at p3. At each time point, each group was compared to ND B of the same time point via t-test. For D B+F * for P < 0.05. For ND B+F ## for P < 0.01. # for P < 0.05. For D B \$\$\$ for P < 0.001. \$\$ for P < 0.01.



Figure 16 – Representative images of mast cells various activities, at different time points. (A) at 100x magnification, (B) at 200x magnification, (C) at 200x magnification (Red arrows pointed to ghost cell).

D. Effect of fat transfer on the molecular level: transferred autologous fat modulates inflammatory cytokines in the burnt site

To study the effect of fat transfer on gene expression of interleukins at the wound site, a real time reverse transcriptase PCR was performed on tissues taken from the wound area of animals of different groups at different time points. Data are presented as fold change compared to the control which is ND B P3.

1. IL-6

At day 3 all groups had to a great extent similar levels of IL 6 transcripts (figure 17). However, at day 7 a considerable increase in IL 6 expression was seen for the groups with fat D B+F and ND B+F, and this increase was of statistical significance (p< 0.01) for the latter group when compared to the group ND B (considered as the control group). While the group D B had no change in IL 6 expression compared to the group ND B as seen in figure 17. The levels of IL 6 mRNA were not significantly different for all groups at day 14. However, there was a slight rise in the IL 6 gene expression for the non diabetic groups (ND B and ND B+F) compared to the diabetic groups (D B and D B+F) as observed in figure 17.

On day 21, this trend continued for all groups except the D B group which now showed a considerable increase in the expression of IL 6 compared to the control (figure 17), probably a continuation of the inflammatory process causing the delay in the progress towards healing. Afterwards at day 28 the levels of IL 6 transcripts were again almost equivalent for all 4 groups, with a slight enhancement for ND B group (figure 17).



Figure 17- IL-6 gene expression. Data are expressed as fold change relative to the control ND B P3. Data are compared to the ND B group at each time point via t-test. For ND B+F ## for P < 0.01

2. IL-12

At day 3, IL 12 mRNA were expressed in all groups to variable extents, but not significantly different, with relatively lower levels in diabetics (figure 18). Whereas at day 7 a significant rise (p<0.05) of IL 12 expression was noted in the group ND B+F compared to the control (figure 18), or to diabetic animals. Also, at day 14, this surge of IL 12 transcripts was still significant (p< 0.05) for the ND B+F group, and the D B+F

group which started to show a small but significant increase in IL 12 expression (figure 18). At day 21 the increase of IL 12 expression in the group D B+F becomes impressively significant (p < 0.001), moreover the group ND B+F maintains its significant expression of the IL 12 gene (p < 0.01) as seen figure 18. Similar observations were recorded at day 28, nonetheless the group D B starts to show a small rise in IL 12 expression (figure 18).

Therefore, the fat transfer appears to enhance IL 6 and IL 12 genes expression both in diabetic and non-diabetic rats tissue.



Figure 18- IL-12 gene expression. Data are expressed as fold change relative to the control ND B P3. Data are compared to the ND B group at each time point via t-test. For D B+F *** for P < 0.001. * for P < 0.05. For ND B+F ### for P < 0.001. ## for P < 0.01. # for P < 0.05.

3. IL-1a

At day 3, all groups with or without fat showed a lower expression of the gene IL-1 α compared to the control group ND B (figure 19). At day 7, all groups continued to display lower expressions of the gene, notably the D B+F group was significantly lower (p< 0.05) compared to the control (figure 19). Similar results were also documented at day 14, with the groups D B+F and D B displaying a significantly lower expression of the IL-1 α gene compared to the control, with p values lower than 0.01 and 0.05 respectively (figure 19). Conversely, on day 21, the levels of IL-1 α transcripts in the aforementioned groups became identical to those of the control group, while the ND B+F group witnessed a significant increase (p< 0.01) compared to the control group (figure 19). At day 28 all groups exhibited low values compared to the control ND B (figure 19).

Thus, both the diabetes and fat transfer appear to reduce IL-1 α gene expression, however, fat transfer showed an enhancing effect on IL-1 α expression at later stages to variable extents, days 21 and 28.



Figure 19- IL-1 α gene expression. Data are expressed as fold change relative to the control ND B P3. Data are compared to the ND B group at each time point via t-test. For D B+F ** for P < 0.01. * for P < 0.05. For ND B+F ## for P < 0.01. For D B \$ for P < 0.05

CHAPTER VI

DISCUSSION

Every year, millions of people are harmed by burn injuries of whom many cope with serious health problems like diabetes. In this context, foot ulceration is the most frequently recognized complication leading many times to amputations. Most remedies rely on topical application. In this study, we explored the therapeutic promise of autologous fat in the management of second-degree burn wounds in an experimental diabetic rat model.

Diabetes has been well associated with delayed wound healing primarily due to an ongoing exaggerated inflammatory process, as well as an impaired cellular proliferation and a fundamental resistance to growth factors which lead to deficient epithelialization abilities (Goren et al., 2006; Tuhin et al., 2017). In addition, the delay in wound healing could be related to the inhibition of new vessel formation due to compromised macrophage migration and defective release of signaling molecules among other factors (Maruyama et al., 2007). For burns, it is presumed that a prolonged and more intense inflammatory phase contributes to delaying healing and production of more scarring.

The results of this study have shown to a great extent the important role that fat cells play in the healing process, this effect was highlighted through the observation of the various studied parameters.

First, the wound areas of all the animal groups were studied and differences in its progression were analyzed. Beginning day 7 the differences between the groups started showing. Both groups that had fat transferred underneath their wounds showed a

significant (p<0.001) decrease in the wound size, while the non-fat treated D B group had a significant (p<0.05) increase in the wound area. This outcome emphasized how the fat has significantly contributed to the contracture of the burn wound in the various stages of healing. We could notice that the progression of the wound closure throughout the time points was consistently more significant and visible for the groups with fat, accentuating the ongoing positive effect that the fat cells had on this healing process. On the other hand, wound closure was delayed in the D B group, which goes in line with the characteristic diabetic traits of hindered healing, by maintaining a sustained inflammatory reaction. However, thanks to the D B+F group, we could observe that the effect of the fat overshadowed the effect of diabetes.

The positive outcomes of fat were also better highlighted when the histological aspects were studied. The D B group had shown throughout the time points an ongoing inflammatory process, which was highly prominent up until day 21 post-op as seen in the H&E-stained sections. The inflammatory process for the groups D B+F, ND B+F, and ND B was the most prominent on day 7 post-op, with some inflammation still being visible in the area of fat transfer up until day 14 post-op. The beginning of epithelial lining formation had started for the three aforementioned groups on day 7, and by day 14 more than 2 layers were well-formed. Conversely, for the D B group, the healing was delayed and it was until day 21 post-op that it seemed to catch up with the rest of the groups in terms of epithelial lining formation. However, it had still a visible scar formed, and unorganized morphology with an abundance of disorganized collagen fibers and multiple inflammatory cells. These observations show that the fat cells play a substantial role, specifically in the diabetic group, in both the proper initiation of the healing process and the correct formation of structures at the burn site, in terms of skin

appendages, sebaceous glands and ducts, and hair bulbs. Therefore, fat transfer has in fact improved and speeded up the wound healing process at both the tissue and cellular levels, with influences on the inflammatory process, the formation of epithelial layers and an organized dermis.

These findings correlate with evidence from the literature suggesting that adipose tissue plays an enhancing role in wound healing.

Adipose tissue is considered as a good source of stem cells, which are multipotent and could differentiate into several lineages. On this basis, adipose tissue has been studied for its effects in wound repair. Multiple analyses have found that adipose tissue and adipose-derived stem cells (ADSCs), have the capacity to induce wound repair through increasing mean collagen secretion and deposition. This hypothesis was mainly supported by the findings of improved extracellular matrix (ECM) deposition and granulation tissue thickness in the fat cells treated groups (Kim et al., 2011; Nambu et al., 2009).

In addition, researchers have noted that the groups treated by ADSCs exhibited amplified levels of TGF- β 1 and TGF- β 3 in wound environments. Both these cytokines play important roles in wound healing, TGF- β 1 for example has a part in matrix deposition, as well as in cellular migration, in addition to wound contraction, whereas TGF- β 3 is an anti-scaring factor, that contributes to collagen organization, while it also could regulate wound reepithelization (Shen et al., 2013; Zografou et al., 2013).

A study by Nie et al. related ADSCs-stimulated tissue repair to the increased epithelialization granulation tissue accumulation and natural site-specific differentiation of ADSCs into epithelial cells. They also confirmed that ASDCs had the capacity of secreting cytokines with angiogenic properties such as VEGF, hepatocyte growth factor

(HGF), and fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF2) both in-vitro and in-vivo (Nie et al., 2011). Likewise, Ebrahimian et al. found the same results in their study involving the mouse chronic wound model (Ebrahimian et al., 2009). Furthermore, Maharlooei et al. in their study concerning adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cell in wound healing in diabetic rats noted a release of VEGF and HGF which was correlated with enhanced survival (Maharlooei et al., 2011).

In a study on ischemic wound healing using ADSCs, Kim et al. mapped the healing process by having at first an acute inflammatory response occurring, for instance, perivascular leakage of red blood cells or neutrophils, followed by the formation of granulation tissue. They also noted early recovery of denervated tissues and improved cell survival. The latter was thought to be performed through controlled apoptosis and protection from oxidative stress. Besides, ADSCs were found to elevate VEGF levels in plasma and tissues, which in turn contributed to local angiogenesis and to triggering a systemic response (Kim et al., 2011).

Recently, many experimental studies have focused on examining the therapeutic effects of ADSCs in murine animal models of wounds healing; it was consistently evident that ADSCs-treated groups displayed improved wound healing due to multiple mechanisms. For instance, they deduced that ADSCs changed the expression profiles of some critical growth factors and cytokines, which lead to improved cellular proliferation, accumulation of collagen fibers, and enhanced migration of keratinocytes and endothelial cells (Ghaneialvar et al., 2017; Irons et al., 2017; Kuo et al., 2016; Maharlooei et al., 2011; Nie et al., 2011; Shi et al., 2016).

We can hence speculate that the fat tissue that was introduced in our study underneath the wounds might have dissolved and differentiated to MSCs, which then on served according to the needs of the local surrounding structures.

To further investigate the histological changes introduced by the fat treatment in this study, mast cells were counted in the wound area at different points, taking multiple fields into considerations. We looked at the burn area and the area that surrounds it, and in both mentioned fields mast cells were counted at the dermal area and the subcutaneous area. At day 3 post-op, a statistically significant increase in the number of mast cells of the D B group was seen when compared to the control group, at the dermis level (p < 0.01) and the subcutaneous level (p < 0.001), similarly the D B+F group showed a significant (p < 0.05) increase at the dermis level. These findings suggest an inflammation build-up around the wound, with more inflammation noted for the diabetic groups. This inflammatory response in the early phases of wound healing is essential for the production of important proinflammatory cytokines, recruitment of macrophages, and the stimulation of cell proliferation of angiogenesis (Paulino Do Nascimento & Monte-Alto-Costa, 2011). In addition, this response stimulates debridement and bacterial cell death in the early phases (Diegelmann & Evans, 2004; J. Li et al., 2007).

On day 7 post-op, both groups with fat transfer had a significant decrease in mast cell count in the subcutaneous non-burn area, with the D B+F group p-value <0.05 and the ND B+F group p-value < 0.01. We can deduce that, at this time point inflammation is decreasing with the presence of fat. As for day 21 post-op in the nonburn area, the D B group displayed a considerable increase in the dermis level, while all three experimental groups showed an increase at the subcutaneous level with the ND

B+F group having a significant increase with a p-value < 0.05 and the D B group having a higher significance with a p-value < 0.01. In addition, all groups at this point had considerable increases in mast cell counts in all fields at the burn area, however, the D B +F group had specifically a significant (p< 0.05) increase at its dermal level, and the ND B+F group had a significant (p< 0.05) increase at the subcutaneous level. Whereas the D B group showed significance at both its dermal and subcutaneous levels, close to the transplanted fat. On day 28, group D B continued to have a rise in its mast cell counts in all its fields. Also, the group ND B+F had a significant augmentation in the count at the burn area at both the dermal and subcutaneous levels.

Mast cells have been established as important participators in all phases of the healing process with a heightened role in the inflammatory phase (Barroso et al., 2012). They were mainly found under pathological conditions. They had a critical role in the formation of granulation tissue (Bolton & Montagna, 1993) as well as being chemoattractants to neutrophils (Kawamoto et al., 1995). It can well be established that their stimulation of the neuropeptide VIP induces the mitosis of keratinocytes (Wilkinson et al., 1994). Mast cells also improve angiogenesis by releasing bFGF, VEGF and TGF- β (Grützkau et al., 1998; NILSSON et al., 1995; Qu et al., 1995). However, the prolonged deployment of mast cells until 21 days after the formation of the wound has been found to cause impairment in the formation of granulation tissue (Souza et al., 2006), as well as the excess mediators of mast cells specifically kinases was found to have a negative role, delaying epithelial cells migration (Cardoso et al., 2007; Ebihara et al., 2005).

However, the continued elevated levels of mast cells beyond day 21, in almost all the groups, could be explained by the mast cells' role in the remodeling phase.

Moreover mast cells have been found to be associated with fibroblast mitosis which leads to empowerment of collagen synthesis and secretion, as well as modification of ECM components (F. Levi-Schaffer & Rubinchik, 1995; Francesca Levi-Schaffer & Kupietzky, 1990; Ruoss et al., 1991; Schwartz, 1990), which are important landmarks that take place in the maturation phase.

As for the effect of fat cells at the molecular level, the expression of several interleukins was assessed at the wound site. To start, IL-6 gene expression levels were calculated at the 5 time points mentioned above for all the involved groups. On day 3 post-op, IL-6 gene expression was similar for all groups. Starting day 7, differences in the gene expression levels were noted: the groups with fat transferred showed significantly (p<0.01) increased levels of the gene compared to the control. The D B group had at this time point similar levels to the control. On day 14, both non-diabetic groups had higher levels of IL-6 expressed than the diabetic groups. Whereas at day 21, the D B group showed a considerable increase in its IL-6 levels. Day 28 was marked by all groups displaying similar levels of IL-6, except the ND B group which displayed slightly higher levels.

IL-6 is a pro-inflammatory cytokine that has been closely linked to wound healing through several mechanisms. It is a chemoattractant to neutrophils and plays a role in leukocyte recruitment to the wound area in the early phase of inflammation (Akira & Kishimoto, 1992; Werner & Grose, 2003a). IL-6 also has a powerful mitosisinducing effect on keratinocytes and a crucial role in angiogenesis. Besides, it has been proved to enhance collagen deposition at the wound site (Duncan & Berman, 1991; Greenwel et al., 1993; Lin et al., 2003; Werner & Grose, 2003a). Furthermore, the lack

of IL-6 has been associated with delay in reepithelialization, predominantly due to the subsequent decrease in TGF-B (Lin et al., 2003).

Several studies have in fact proved that IL-6 promotes cell proliferation, angiogenesis, and ECM synthesis in the early proliferative phase of wound healing. On the other hand, it was evident that prolonged expression of IL-6 entails chronic inflammation and the development of hypertrophic scarring (O'Reilly et al., 2012; Zhu et al., 2016). In our study, the D B group at day 21 post-op had elevated levels of IL-6 expression, consistent with prolonged inflammation and delayed wound healing.

Moreover, IL-6 has been found highly expressed in the hypertrophic scarring associated fibroblasts (H. Xue et al., 2000). A study by Foubert et al. on autologous adipose-derived regenerative cell (ADRC) therapy and development of hypertrophic scarring, showed that ADRC treated groups were linked to upregulated expression of IL-6 in the proliferative phase and downregulated expression of the gene in the remodeling phase, which leads to enhanced early healing and reduced hypertrophic scar formation (Foubert et al., 2017). This is evident in our study; in fact, the D B+F group specifically followed the course of expression of IL-6 as mapped out by Foubert et al.

In this study, IL-1 α gene expression levels were calculated at the 5 time points mentioned above for all the groups involved. On day 3 all groups displayed lower levels than the control. On day 7, all groups continued to show lower levels of this gene, with the group D B+F having significantly (p<0.05) lower expression of IL-1 α . Day 14 was marked by a significant decrease in the gene expression for the group D B+F (p<0.01) and the group D B (p<0.05). On day 21, all groups had similarly comparable levels of IL-1 α expression except for the ND B+F group which now demonstrated a significant increase (p<0.01). On day 28, on the other hand, all the groups fell back to comparable levels, lower than the levels expressed on day 3.

IL-1 α is a pro-inflammatory cytokine, that plays an important role in wound healing through instigating the migration and proliferation of keratinocytes, in addition to stimulating the production of FGF (Werner & Grose, 2003a). IL-1 α also regulated the expression of VCAM-1 and ICMA-1, important regulators of leukocyte extravasation (Lin et al., 2003). In our study, IL-1 α expression was mostly downregulated after day 3 post-op. These observation could be linked to the fact that IL-1 α exerts most of its effects at early stages of wound healing.

IL-12 gene expression levels were calculated at the 5 time points mentioned above for all the groups involved. On day 3, all groups expressed similar levels of the gene. Day 7 is when differences start to appear: the ND B+F group had a significant (p< 0.05) rise in gene expression. On day 14, both groups with fat had noticeable changes in IL-12 gene expression, with ND B+F having significantly (p<0.05) elevated levels. Day 21 was also distinct with the fat-treated groups with now both displaying significant increases in IL-12 gene expression: ND B+F p<0.01 and D B+F p<0.001. On day 28, all groups were back to similar gene expression levels except for the D B group which showed a slight increase at this time.

IL-12 is a pro-inflammatory cytokine that recruits neutrophils into the wound bed and enhances the differentiation of naïve T cells into T effector cells (Gillitzer, 2001; Matias et al., 2011; Trinchieri et al., 2003). Cytotoxic and helper T-cells have been found to have an essential role in the wound healing process, they both produce a plethora of lymphokines that are associated with the healing process, particularly effective on cellular subsets that are responsible for fibroblast replication and collagen

synthesis (Agren, 2016; Fishel et al., 1987). In addition, cytotoxic T cells have been associated with macrophage differentiation, as well as their activation and migration. Tcell-derived cytokines, for example, interferon γ which promotes the recruitment and activation of M1 macrophages, that in turn amplify adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance (Harford et al., 2011). However, IL-12 has anti-angiogenic activity (Voest et al., 1995), thus its overexpression might contribute negatively to the healing process. Moreover, a study established that the absence of IL-12 had accelerated epithelialization and promoted early inflammation, as well as the elimination of angiogenesis regulation (Matias et al., 2011).

The above manifestations demonstrate that fat was capable of elevating significantly the levels of IL-12 even at early stages, which could be responsible of the accelerated healing process.
CHAPTER VI

CONCLUSION

In this study, data are in line with results reported in the literature. However, it could demonstrate that autologous fat cells transported or transferred from the abdominal wall without any further treatment could also improve second degree burn wound healing by having: less scarring, smaller surface areas, faster regeneration of skin appendages (hair, sweat glands), and faster epithelialization. The fat tissue could have maintained a sustained low grade inflammatory reaction, as noted by histological studies, attracting more neutrophiles for quick clearing of necrotic tissue and thus reduction in ROS formation and enhancement of the proliferative phase. As a result of the secretory products from the fat cells, remodeling will be induced earlier with resolution of vascular bed, fibroblast proliferation and differentiation in the deep layers with early migration and myofibroblast activations. Consequently, the extracellular matrix becomes more organized with more collagen deposition and gaining of cumulative tensile strength and appropriate contraction, thus leading to a smaller area of the wound with less scarring.

A. Limitations of the study

Multiple limitations were faced in this study. First, we were aiming to study the effect of fat treatment in both diabetic and nondiabetic models through calculating the pAMPK/tAMPK ratio. However, since our quantification procedures depended on the Western Blot technique, we were unable to continue working on this aspect as this technique needed further optimization for our tissue type. Moreover, as indicated in the

69

literature, several other interleukins and cytokines are equally important in wound healing, however, we did not have the tools to examine the progress of their expression under the different experimental conditions. Furthermore, we planned to perform a quantitative ROS production assay, but we were unable to do it due to technical difficulties, and lack of kits.

B. Future perspectives

As for future perspectives, multiple areas can be further explored in this study, such as the fat cells migration and differentiation, as well fibroblasts formation and progression throughout the time points. While also, the observation of the migration patterns of different types of leukocytes could be assessed. In addition to the ROS technique that could be done on the remaining tissue samples, as well as heat shock protein 70 (HSP-70) expression.

APPENDIX

SUPPLEMENTARY DATA



S1 – The D B+F group wound area progress over the 5 time-points. Data are expressed as averages of calculated wound areas obtained from the 4 different rats sacrificed at each time point. The data from each time point are compared to the control (P3) via t-tests. *** for P < 0.001.



S2 – The D B group wound area progress over the 5 time-points. Data are expressed as averages of calculated wound areas obtained from the 4 different rats sacrificed at each time point. The data from each time point are compared to the control (P3) via t-tests. *** for P < 0.001. * for P < 0.05.



S3 – The ND B+F group wound area progress over the 5 time-points. Data are expressed as averages of calculated wound areas obtained from the 4 different rats sacrificed at each time point. The data from each time point are compared to the control (P3) via t-tests. *** for P < 0.001. ** for P < 0.01.



S4 – The ND B group wound area progress over the 5 time-points. Data are expressed as averages of calculated wound areas obtained from the 4 different rats sacrificed at each time point. The data from each time point are compared to the control (P3) via t-tests. *** for P < 0.001. * for P < 0.05.



S5 – All groups compared to each other at Day 3. Data are expressed as averages of calculated wound areas obtained from the 4 different rats sacrificed at each time point. The data from each time point are compared to the control (ND B) via t-tests. *** for P < 0.001. ** for P < 0.01.



S6 – All groups compared to each other at Day 7. Data are expressed as averages of calculated wound areas obtained from the 4 different rats sacrificed at each time point. The data from each time point are compared to the control (ND B) via t-tests. *** for P < 0.001. * for P < 0.05.



S7 – All groups compared to each other at Day 14. Data are expressed as averages of calculated wound areas obtained from the 4 different rats sacrificed at each time point. The data from each time point are compared to the control (ND B) via t-tests. *** for P < 0.001.



S8 – All groups compared to each other at Day 21. Data are expressed as averages of calculated wound areas obtained from the 4 different rats sacrificed at each time point. The data from each time point are compared to the control (ND B) via t-tests. * for P < 0.05.



S9 – All groups compared to each other at Day 28. Data are expressed as averages of calculated wound areas obtained from the 4 different rats sacrificed at each time point. The data from each time point are compared to the control (ND B) via t-tests. * for P < 0.05.



S10 - All groups compared to each other at Day 3. Data are expressed as averages of calculated mast cells in the burn area of the wound, obtained from the 4 different rats sacrificed at each time point. The data from each time point are compared to the control (ND B) via t-tests. * for P < 0.05.



S11 - All groups compared to each other at Day 3. Data are expressed as averages of calculated mast cells in the non burn area of the wound, obtained from the 4 different rats sacrificed at each time point. The data from each time point are compared to the control (ND B) via t-tests. *** for P < 0.001. ** for P < 0.01. * for P < 0.05.



S12 - All groups compared to each other at Day 7. Data are expressed as averages of calculated mast cells in the burn area of the wound, obtained from the 4 different rats sacrificed at each time point. The data from each time point are compared to the control (ND B) via t-tests.



S13 - All groups compared to each other at Day 7. Data are expressed as averages of calculated mast cells in the non burn area of the wound, obtained from the 4 different rats sacrificed at each time point. The data from each time point are compared to the control (ND B) via t-tests. ** for P < 0.01. * for P < 0.05.



S14 - All groups compared to each other at Day 14. Data are expressed as averages of calculated mast cells in the burn area of the wound, obtained from the 4 different rats sacrificed at each time point. The data from each time point are compared to the control (ND B) via t-tests.



S15 - All groups compared to each other at Day 14. Data are expressed as averages of calculated mast cells in the non burn area of the wound, obtained from the 4 different rats sacrificed at each time point. The data from each time point are compared to the control (ND B) via t-tests.



S16 - All groups compared to each other at Day 21. Data are expressed as averages of calculated mast cells in the burn area of the wound, obtained from the 4 different rats sacrificed at each time point. The data from each time point are compared to the control (ND B) via t-tests. ** for P < 0.01. * for P < 0.05.



S17 - All groups compared to each other at Day 21. Data are expressed as averages of calculated mast cells in the non burn area of the wound, obtained from the 4 different rats sacrificed at each time point. The data from each time point are compared to the control (ND B) via t-tests. ** for P < 0.01. * for P < 0.05.



S18 - All groups compared to each other at Day 28. Data are expressed as averages of calculated mast cells in the burn area of the wound, obtained from the 4 different rats sacrificed at each time point. The data from each time point are compared to the control (ND B) via t-tests. ** for P < 0.01. * for P < 0.05.



S19 - All groups compared to each other at Day 28. Data are expressed as averages of calculated mast cells in the non burn area of the wound, obtained from the 4 different rats sacrificed at each time point. The data from each time point are compared to the control (ND B) via t-tests. ** for P < 0.01.



S20 - Data are expressed as fold change relative to the control ND B P3. Data are compared to the ND B group at each time point via t-test. ** for P < 0.01.



S21 - Data are expressed as fold change relative to the control ND D P3. Data are compared to the ND B group at each time point via t-test. *** for P < 0.001. ** for P < 0.01. * for P < 0.05



S22 - Data are expressed as fold change relative to the control ND D P3. Data are compared to the ND B group at each time point via t-test. ** for P < 0.01. * for P < 0.05.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Abazari, M., Ghaffari, A., Rashidzadeh, H., Badeleh, S. M., & Maleki, Y. (2020). A Systematic Review on Classification, Identification, and Healing Process of Burn Wound Healing. *International Journal of Lower Extremity Wounds*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534734620924857

Agren, M. (2016). Wound Healing Biomaterials - Volume 2: Functional Biomaterials -Google Books. Woodhead. https://books.google.com.lb/books?hl=en&lr=&id=NLbBCQAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&p g=PP1&dq=Ågren+MS.+Wound+Healing+Biomaterials:+Functional+Biomaterial s.+Vol+2.+Woodhead+Publishing%3B+2016.&ots=wGmBIX8hRQ&sig=oMhDl CmZPiOIrzgbsLCC0iQ8b9s&redir_esc=y#v=onepage&q=Ågren

- Ahuja, R. B., Puri, V., Gibran, N., Greenhalgh, D., Jeng, J., Mackie, D., Moghazy, A., Moiemen, N., Palmieri, T., Peck, M., Serghiou, M., Watson, S., Wilson, Y., Altamirano, A. M., Atieh, B., Bolgiani, A., Carrougher, G., Edgar, D., Guerrero, L., ... van Zuijlen, P. (2016). ISBI Practice Guidelines for Burn Care. *Burns*, 42(5), 953–1021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.burns.2016.05.013
- Akira, S., & Kishimoto, T. (1992). IL-6 and NF-IL6 in Acute-Phase Response and Viral Infection. *Immunological Reviews*, 127(1), 25–50. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.1992.tb01407.x
- Artuc, M., Hermes, B., Steckelings, U. M., Grützkau, A., & Henz, B. M. (1999). Mast cells and their mediators in cutaneous wound healing Active participants or innocent bystanders? In *Experimental Dermatology* (Vol. 8, Issue 1, pp. 1–16). Blackwell Munksgaard. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0625.1999.tb00342.x
- Atkinson, M. A., Eisenbarth, G. S., & Michels, A. W. (2014). Type 1 diabetes. *The Lancet*, *383*(9911), 69–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60591-7
- Barroso, P. R., Lopes-Rocha, R., Pereira, E. M. F., Marinho, S. A., De Miranda, J. L., Lima, N. L., & Verli, F. D. (2012). Effect of propolis on mast cells in wound healing. *Inflammopharmacology*, 20(5), 289–294. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10787-011-0105-5
- Basta, G., Lazzerini, G., Massaro, M., Simoncini, T., Tanganelli, P., Fu, C., Kislinger, T., Stern, D. M., Schmidt, A. M., & De Caterina, R. (2002). Advanced glycation end products activate endothelium through signal-transduction receptor RAGE a mechanism for amplification of inflammatory responses. *Circulation*, 105(7), 816– 822. https://doi.org/10.1161/hc0702.104183
- Baxter, C. R., & Shires, T. (1968). PHYSIOLOGICAL RESPONSE TO CRYSTALLOID RESUSCITATION OF SEVERE BURNS. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 150(3), 874–894. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1968.tb14738.x
- Bechtel, M. J., Reinartz, J., Rox, J. M., Inndorf, S., Schaefer, B. M., & Kramer, M. D. (1996). Upregulation of cell-surface-associated plasminogen activation in cultured keratinocytes by interleukin-1β and tumor necrosis factor-α. *Experimental Cell Research*, 223(2), 395–404. https://doi.org/10.1006/excr.1996.0094
- Bolton, L. L., & Montagna, W. (1993). Mast cells in human ulcers. American Journal of Dermatopathology, 15(2), 133–138. https://doi.org/10.1097/00000372-199304000-00006
- Brewin, M. P., & Homer, S. J. (2018). The lived experience and quality of life with burn scarring—The results from a large-scale online survey. *Burns*, 44(7), 1801–1810.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.burns.2018.04.007

- Broughton, G., Janis, J. E., & Attinger, C. E. (2006). The basic science of wound healing. In *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery* (Vol. 117, Issue 7 SUPPL.). Plast Reconstr Surg. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.prs.0000225430.42531.c2
- Cardoso, J. F., Souza, B. R., Amadeu, T. P., Valença, S. S., Porto, L. C. M. S., & Costa, A. M. A. (2007). Effects of cigarette smoke in mice wound healing is strain dependent. *Toxicologic Pathology*, 35(7), 890–896. https://doi.org/10.1080/01926230701459986
- Carr-Collins, J. A. (1992). Pressure techniques for the prevention of hypertrophic scar. *Clinics in Plastic Surgery*, *19*(3), 733–743. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0094-1298(20)30957-3
- Chester, D., & Papini, R. (2004). Skin and skin substitutes in burn management. *Trauma*, 6(2), 87–99. https://doi.org/10.1191/1460408604ta303oa
- Collard, C. D., & Gelman, S. (2001). Pathophysiology, clinical manifestations, and prevention of ischemia-reperfusion injury. In *Anesthesiology* (Vol. 94, Issue 6, pp. 1133–1138). Lippincott Williams and Wilkins. https://doi.org/10.1097/00000542-200106000-00030
- Collison, K. S., Parhar, R. S., Saleh, S. S., Meyer, B. F., Kwaasi, A. A., Hammami, M. M., Schmidt, A. M., Stern, D. M., & Al-Mohanna, F. A. (2002). RAGE-mediated neutrophil dysfunction is evoked by advanced glycation end products (AGEs). *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 71(3), 433–444. https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.71.3.433
- Czarnetzki, B. M., Grabbe, J., Kolde, G., Krüger-Krasagakes, S., Welker, P., & Zuberbier, T. (1995). Mast cells in the cytokine network: the what, where from and what for. *Experimental Dermatology*, *4*(4), 221–226. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0625.1995.tb00249.x
- Dai, T., Tanaka, M., Huang, Y. Y., & Hamblin, M. R. (2011). Chitosan preparations for wounds and burns: Antimicrobial and wound-healing effects. In *Expert Review of Anti-Infective Therapy* (Vol. 9, Issue 7, pp. 857–879). Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther. https://doi.org/10.1586/eri.11.59
- Dai, T., Tegos, G. P., Burkatovskaya, M., Castano, A. P., & Hamblin, M. R. (2009). Chitosan acetate bandage as a topical antimicrobial dressing for infected burns. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 53(2), 393–400. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00760-08
- Darby, I. A., Laverdet, B., Bonté, F., & Desmoulière, A. (2014). Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts in wound healing. *Clinical, Cosmetic and Investigational Dermatology*, 7, 301–311. https://doi.org/10.2147/CCID.S50046
- De Chalain, T. M. B., Tang, C., & Thomson, H. G. (1998). Bum area color changes after superficial burns in childhood: Can they be predicted. *Journal of Burn Care and Rehabilitation*, 19(1), 39–49. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004630-199801000-00010
- De Ugarte, D. A., Ashjian, P. H., Elbarbary, A., & Hedrick, M. H. (2003). Future of Fat as Raw Material for Tissue Regeneration. *Annals of Plastic Surgery*, 50(2), 215– 219. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.SAP.0000029661.38066.15
- Di Marco, E., Marchisio, P. C., Bondanza, S., Franzi, A. T., Cancedda, R., & De Luca, M. (1991). Growth-regulated synthesis and secretion of biologically active nerve growth factor by human keratinocytes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 266(32), 21718–21722. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0021-9258(18)54695-0
- Diegelmann, R. F., & Evans, M. C. (2004). Wound healing: An overview of acute,

fibrotic and delayed healing. In *Frontiers in Bioscience* (Vol. 9, pp. 283–289). Frontiers in Bioscience. https://doi.org/10.2741/1184

- Dimeglio, L. A., Evans-Molina, C., & Oram, R. A. (2018). Seminar Type 1 diabetes. In www.thelancet.com (Vol. 391). www.thelancet.com
- DiPietro, L. A., & Burns, A. L. (2003). *Wound Healing* (Vol. 78). Humana Press. https://doi.org/10.1385/1592593321
- Dissemond, J., Goos, M., & Wagner, S. N. (2002). The role of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis and therapy of chronic wounds. *Hautarzt*, *53*(11), 718–723. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00105-001-0325-5
- Do Nascimento, E. G., Sampaio, T. B. M., Medeiros, A. C., & De Azevedo, E. P. (2009). Evaluation of chitosan gel with 1% silver sulfadiazine as an alternative for burn wound treatment in rats. *Acta Cirurgica Brasileira*, 24(6), 460–465. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0102-86502009000600007
- Duncan, M. R., & Berman, B. (1991). Stimulation of collagen and glycosaminoglycan production in cultured human adult dermal fibroblasts by recombinant human interleukin 6. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 97(4), 686–692. https://doi.org/10.1111/1523-1747.ep12483971
- Ebihara, N., Funaki, T., Murakami, A., Takai, S., & Miyazaki, M. (2005). Mast cell chymase decreases the barrier function and inhibits the migration of corneal epithelial cells. *Current Eye Research*, *30*(12), 1061–1069. https://doi.org/10.1080/02713680500346625
- Ebrahimian, T. G., Pouzoulet, F., Squiban, C., Buard, V., André, M., Cousin, B., Gourmelon, P., Benderitter, M., Casteilla, L., & Tamarat, R. (2009). Cell therapy based on adipose tissue-derived stromal cells promotes physiological and pathological wound healing. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 29(4), 503–510. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.178962
- Edmondson, S. J., Ali Jumabhoy, I., & Murray, A. (2018). Time to start putting down the knife: A systematic review of burns excision tools of randomised and nonrandomised trials. In *Burns* (Vol. 44, Issue 7, pp. 1721–1737). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.burns.2018.01.012
- Eming, S. A., Werner, S., Bugnon, P., Wickenhauser, C., Siewe, L., Utermöhlen, O., Davidson, J. M., Krieg, T., & Roers, A. (2007). Accelerated wound closure in mice deficient for interleukin-10. *American Journal of Pathology*, *170*(1), 188–202. https://doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2007.060370
- EVANS, E. I., PURNELL, O. J., ROBINETT, P. W., BATCHELOR, A., & MARTIN, M. (1952). Fluid and electrolyte requirements in severe burns. *Annals of Surgery*, *135*(6), 804–817. https://doi.org/10.1097/00000658-195206000-00006
- Evers, L. H., Bhavsar, D., & Mailänder, P. (2010). The biology of burn injury. *Experimental Dermatology*, 19(9), 777–783. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0625.2010.01105.x
- Fishel, R. S., Barbul, A., Beschorner, W. E., Wasserkrug, H. L., & Efron, G. (1987). Lymphocyte participation in wound healing. Morphologic assessment using monoclonal antibodies. *Annals of Surgery*, 206(1), 25–29. https://doi.org/10.1097/00000658-198707000-00004
- Foncerrada, Guillermo; Capek, Karel D; Herndon, David N; Lee, Jong O; Sirvent, Ramon Zapata; Finnerty, C. (2017). *The State of the Art on Burn Wound Healing*. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/330760953_The_State_of_the_Art_on_B urn_Wound_Healing

- Foubert, P., Zafra, D., Liu, M., Rajoria, R., Gutierrez, D., Tenenhaus, M., & Fraser, J. K. (2017). Autologous adipose-derived regenerative cell therapy modulates development of hypertrophic scarring in a red Duroc porcine model. *Stem Cell Research & Therapy*, 8(1), 261. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-017-0704-1
- Frank, S., Hubner, G., Breier, G., Longaker, M. T., Greenhalgh, D. G., & Werner, S. (1995). Regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor expression in cultured keratinocytes. Implications for normal and impaired wound healing. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 270(21), 12607–12613. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.270.21.12607
- Franz, A., Wood, W., & Martin, P. (2018). Fat Body Cells Are Motile and Actively Migrate to Wounds to Drive Repair and Prevent Infection. *Developmental Cell*, 44(4), 460-470.e3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2018.01.026
- Friedl, H. P., Till, G. O., Trentz, O., & Ward, P. A. (1989). Roles of histamine, complement and xanthine oxidase in thermal injury of skin. *American Journal of Pathology*, 135(1), 203–217. /pmc/articles/PMC1880220/?report=abstract
- Gabriel, V. A. (2009). Transforming growth factor-β and angiotensin in fibrosis and burn injuries. *Journal of Burn Care and Research*, *30*(3), 471–481. https://doi.org/10.1097/BCR.0b013e3181a28ddb
- Ghaneialvar, H., Sahebghadam Lotfi, A., Arjmand, S., Soleimani, M., & Abbas, F. M. (2017). Adipose derived mesenchymal stem cells improve diabetic wound healing in mouse animal model: extracellular matrix remodeling maybe a potential therapeutic usage of stem cells. In *Biomedical Research* (Vol. 28, Issue 8). Allied Academies. www.biomedres.info
- Gilboa, D. (2001). Long-term psychosocial adjustment after burn injury. *Burns*, 27(4), 335–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0305-4179(00)00125-X
- Gillitzer, R. (2001). Inflammation in human skin: A model to study chemokinemediated leukocyte migration in vivo. In *Journal of Pathology* (Vol. 194, Issue 4, pp. 393–394). J Pathol. https://doi.org/10.1002/1096-9896(200108)194:4<393::AID-PATH907>3.0.CO;2-7
- Goren, I., Müller, E., Pfeilschifter, J., & Frank, S. (2006). Severely impaired insulin signaling in chronic wounds of diabetic ob/ob mice: A potential role of tumor necrosis factor-α. *American Journal of Pathology*, *168*(3), 765–777. https://doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2006.050293
- Gravante, G., Filingeri, V., Delogu, D., Santeusanio, G., Palmieri, M. B., Esposito, G., Montone, A., & Sconocchia, G. (2006). Apoptotic cell death in deep partial thickness burns by coexpression analysis of TUNEL and Fas. In *Surgery* (Vol. 139, Issue 6, pp. 854–855). Surgery. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.surg.2006.01.024
- Greenhalgh, D. G. (2015). A primer on pigmentation. Journal of Burn Care and Research, 36(2), 247–257. https://doi.org/10.1097/BCR.0000000000224
- Greenhalgh, D. G. (2019). Management of Burns. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 380(24), 2349–2359. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1807442
- Greenwel, P., Rubin, J., Schwartz, M., Hertzberg, E. L., & Rojkind, M. (1993). Liver fat-storing cell clones obtained from a CC14-cirrhotic rat are heterogeneous with regard to proliferation, expression of extracellular matrix components, interleukin-6, and connexin 43. *Laboratory Investigation*, *69*(2), 210–216. https://europepmc.org/article/med/8394478
- Grover, R., & Morgan, B. D. G. (1996). Management of hypopigmentation following burn injury. *Burns*, 22(8), 627–630. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0305-4179(96)00025-

3

- Gruber, B. L., Marchese, M. J., Suzuki, K., Schwartz, L. B., Okada, Y., Nagase, H., & Ramamurthy, N. S. (1989). Synovial procollagenase activation by human mast cell tryptase dependence upon matrix metalloproteinase 3 activation. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 84(5), 1657–1662. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI114344
- Grützkau, A., Krüger-Krasagakes, S., Baumeister, H., Schwarz, C., Kögel, H., Welker, P., Lippert, U., Henz, B. M., & Möller, A. (1998). Synthesis, storage, and release of vascular endothelial growth factor/vascular permeability factor (VEGF/VPF) by human mast cells: Implications for the biological significance of VEGF206. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 9(4), 875–884. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.9.4.875
- Harford, K. A., Reynolds, C. M., McGillicuddy, F. C., & Roche, H. M. (2011). Fats, inflammation and insulin resistance: Insights to the role of macrophage and T-cell accumulation in adipose tissue. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 70(4), 408– 417. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0029665111000565
- Harvima, I. T., Horsmanheimo, L., Naukkarinen, A., & Horsmanheimo, M. (1994). Mast cell proteinases and cytokines in skin inflammation. *Archives of Dermatological Research*, 287(1), 61–67. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00370720
- Herndon, D. (2007). TOTAL BURN CARE, 3RD EDITION. Saunders. https://doi.org/10.1097/shk.0b013e318181b327
- Hettiaratchy, S., & Dziewulski, P. (2004). Pathophysiology and types of burns. *BMJ*, 328(7453), 1427. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.328.7453.1427
- Holland, A. J. A., Tarran, S. L. S., Medbury, H. J., & Guiffre, A. K. (2008). Are fibrocytes present in pediatric burn wounds? *Journal of Burn Care and Research*, 29(4), 619–626. https://doi.org/10.1097/BCR.0b013e31817db90a
- Hudson, B. I., Bucciarelli, L. G., Wendt, T., Sakaguchi, T., Lalla, E., Qu, W., Lu, Y., Lee, L., Stern, D. M., Naka, Y., Ramasamy, R., Yan, S. Du, Yan, S. F., D'Agati, V., & Schmidt, A. M. (2003). Blockade of receptor for advanced glycation endproducts: a new target for therapeutic intervention in diabetic complications and inflammatory disorders. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 419(1), 80–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2003.08.030
- Irons, R. F., Cahill, K. W., Rattigan, D. A., Marcotte, J. H., Fromer, M. W., Chang, S., Carpenter, J. P., & Caputo, F. J. (2017). PC168 Acceleration of Diabetic Wound Healing With Adipose-Derived Stem Cells, Endothelial-Differentiated Stem Cells, and Topical-Conditioned Medium Therapy in a Swine Model. *Journal of Vascular Surgery*, 65(6), 184S-185S. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvs.2017.03.349
- Ishida, Y., Kondo, T., Takayasu, T., Iwakura, Y., & Mukaida, N. (2004). The Essential Involvement of Cross-Talk between IFN-γ and TGF-β in the Skin Wound-Healing Process. *The Journal of Immunology*, *172*(3), 1848–1855. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.172.3.1848
- Israel, J. S., Greenhalgh, D. G., & Gibson, A. L. (2017). Variations in Burn Excision and Grafting: A Survey of the American Burn Association. *Journal of Burn Care* and Research, 38(1), e125–e132. https://doi.org/10.1097/BCR.00000000000475
- Jackson, D. M. (1953). The diagnosis of the depth of burning. *British Journal of* Surgery, 40(164), 588–596. https://doi.org/10.1002/bjs.18004016413
- Kamolz, L. P., Jeschke, M. G., Horch, R. E., Küntscher, M., & Brychta, P. (2012). Handbook of burns: Reconstruction and rehabilitation volume 2. In *Handbook of Burns: Reconstruction and Rehabilitation Volume 2*. Springer-Verlag Wien. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-7091-0315-9

- Kawamoto, K., Okada, T., Kannan, Y., Ushio, H., Matsumoto, M., & Matsuda, H. (1995). Nerve growth factor prevents apoptosis of rat peritoneal mast cells through the trk proto-oncogene receptor. *Blood*, *86*(12), 4638–4644. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v86.12.4638.bloodjournal86124638
- Khundkar, R., Malic, C., & Burge, T. (2010). Use of ActicoatTM dressings in burns: What is the evidence? In *Burns* (Vol. 36, Issue 6, pp. 751–758). Burns. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.burns.2009.04.008
- Kim, E. K., Li, G., Lee, T. J., & Hong, J. P. (2011). The effect of human adiposederived stem cells on healing of ischemic wounds in a diabetic nude mouse model. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, 128(2), 387–394. https://doi.org/10.1097/PRS.0b013e31821e6de2
- Kirsner, R. S., & Eaglstein, W. H. (1993). The wound healing process. In *Dermatologic Clinics* (Vol. 11, Issue 4, pp. 629–640). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0733-8635(18)30216-x
- Klinger, M, Marazzi, A. M., Vigo, A. D., Torre, A. M., Marazzi, M., Vigo, D., & Torre, I. M. (2008). Fat Injection for Cases of Severe Burn Outcomes: A New Perspective of Scar Remodeling and Reduction. 32, 465–469. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00266-008-9122-1
- Klinger, Marco, Klinger, F., Caviggioli, F., Maione, L., Catania, B., Veronesi, A., Giannasi, S., Bandi, V., Giaccone, M., Siliprandi, M., Barbera, F., Battistini, A., Lisa, A., & Vinci, V. (2020). Fat Grafting for Treatment of Facial Scars. In *Clinics in Plastic Surgery* (Vol. 47, Issue 1, pp. 131–138). W.B. Saunders. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cps.2019.09.002
- Kuo, Y. R., Wang, C. T., Cheng, J. T., Kao, G. S., Chiang, Y. C., & Wang, C. J. (2016). Adipose-derived stem cells accelerate diabetic wound healing through the induction of autocrine and paracrine effects. *Cell Transplantation*, 25(1), 71–81. https://doi.org/10.3727/096368915X687921
- Landén, N. X., Li, D., & Ståhle, M. (2016). Transition from inflammation to proliferation: a critical step during wound healing. In *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* (Vol. 73, Issue 20, pp. 3861–3885). Birkhauser Verlag AG. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-016-2268-0
- Lau, K., Paus, R., Tiede, S., Day, P., & Bayat, A. (2009). Exploring the role of stem cells in cutaneous wound healing. In *Experimental Dermatology* (Vol. 18, Issue 11, pp. 921–933). Exp Dermatol. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0625.2009.00942.x
- Levi-Schaffer, F., & Rubinchik, E. (1995). Activated mast cells are fibrogenic for 3T3 fibroblasts. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, *104*(6), 999–1003. https://doi.org/10.1111/1523-1747.ep12606237
- Levi-Schaffer, Francesca, & Kupietzky, A. (1990). Mast cells enhance migration and proliferation of fibroblasts into an in vitro wound. *Experimental Cell Research*, *188*(1), 42–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-4827(90)90275-F
- Li, B., & Wang, J. H. C. (2011). Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts in wound healing: Force generation and measurement. *Journal of Tissue Viability*, *20*(4), 108–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtv.2009.11.004
- Li, J., Chen, J., & Kirsner, R. (2007). Pathophysiology of acute wound healing. *Clinics in Dermatology*, 25(1), 9–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clindermatol.2006.09.007
- Lin, Z.-Q., Kondo, T., Ishida, Y., Takayasu, T., & Mukaida, N. (2003). Essential involvement of IL-6 in the skin wound-healing process as evidenced by delayed wound healing in IL-6-deficient mice. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, *73*(6), 713–

721. https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.0802397

- Liu, H. F., Zhang, F., & Lineaweaver, W. C. (2017). History and advancement of burn treatments. In *Annals of Plastic Surgery* (Vol. 78, Issue 2, pp. S2–S8). Lippincott Williams and Wilkins. https://doi.org/10.1097/SAP.00000000000896
- Liu, P., Deng, Z., Han, S., Liu, T., Wen, N., Lu, W., Geng, X., Huang, S., & Jin, Y. (2008). Tissue-engineered skin containing mesenchymal stem cells improves burn wounds. *Artificial Organs*, 32(12), 925–931. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-1594.2008.00654.x
- Loomans, C. J. M., De Koning, E. J. P., Staal, F. J. T., Rookmaaker, M. B., Verseyden, C., De Boer, H. C., Verhaar, M. C., Braam, B., Rabelink, T. J., & Van Zonneveld, A. J. (2004). Endothelial Progenitor Cell Dysfunction: A Novel Concept in the Pathogenesis of Vascular Complications of Type 1 Diabetes. *Diabetes*, 53(1), 195– 199. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.53.1.195
- Maharlooei, M. K., Bagheri, M., Solhjou, Z., Jahromi, B. M., Akrami, M., Rohani, L., Monabati, A., Noorafshan, A., & Omrani, G. R. (2011). Adipose tissue derived mesenchymal stem cell (AD-MSC) promotes skin wound healing in diabetic rats. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 93(2), 228–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2011.04.018
- Maruyama, K., Asai, J., Ii, M., Thorne, T., Losordo, D. W., & D'Amore, P. A. (2007). Decreased macrophage number and activation lead to reduced lymphatic vessel formation and contribute to impaired diabetic wound healing. *American Journal of Pathology*, 170(4), 1178–1191. https://doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2007.060018
- Matias, M. A., Saunus, J. M., Ivanovski, S., Walsh, L. J., & Farah, C. S. (2011). Accelerated wound healing phenotype in Interleukin 12/23 deficient mice. *Journal of Inflammation*, 8(1), 39. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-9255-8-39
- Miao, M., Niu, Y., Xie, T., Yuan, B., Qing, C., & Lu, S. (2012). Diabetes-impaired wound healing and altered macrophage activation: A possible pathophysiologic correlation. *Wound Repair and Regeneration*, 20(2), 203–213. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1524-475X.2012.00772.x
- Möller, A., Henz, B. M., Grützkau, A., Lippert, U., Aragane, Y., Schwarz, T., & Krüger-Krasagakes, S. (1998). Comparative cytokine gene expression: Regulation and release by human mast cells. *Immunology*, 93(2), 289–295. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2567.1998.00425.x
- Muscha Steckelings, U., Artuc, M., Paul, M., Stoll, M., & Henz, B. M. (1996). Angiotensin II stimulates proliferation of primary human keratinocytes via a non-AT1, non-AT2 angiotensin receptor. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 229(1), 329–333. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1996.1801
- NADEL, J. A. (1991). Biology of Mast Cell Tryptase and Chymase. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 629(1), 319–331. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1991.tb37986.x
- Nambu, M., Kishimoto, S., Nakamura, S., Mizuno, H., Yanagibayashi, S., Yamamoto, N., Azuma, R., Nakamura, S. I., Kiyosawa, T., Ishihara, M., & Kanatani, Y. (2009). Accelerated wound healing in healing-impaired db/db mice by autologous adipose tissue-derived stromal cells combined with atelocollagen matrix. *Annals of Plastic Surgery*, 62(3), 317–321. https://doi.org/10.1097/SAP.0b013e31817f01b6
- Nelson, R. D., Quie, P. G., & Simmons, R. L. (1975). Chemotaxis Under Agarose: A New and Simple Method for Measuring Chemotaxis and Spontaneous Migration of Human Polymorphonuclear Leukocytes and Monocytes. *The Journal of*

Immunology, *115*(6).

- Nguyen, T. T., Mobashery, S., & Chang, M. (2016). Roles of Matrix Metalloproteinases in Cutaneous Wound Healing. In *Wound Healing - New insights into Ancient Challenges*. InTech. https://doi.org/10.5772/64611
- Nie, C., Yang, D., Xu, J., Si, Z., Jin, X., & Zhang, J. (2011). Locally administered Adipose-derived stem cells accelerate wound healing through differentiation and vasculogenesis. *Cell Transplantation*, 20(2), 205–216. https://doi.org/10.3727/096368910X520065
- NILSSON, G., SVENSSON, V., & NILSSON, K. (1995). Constitutive and Inducible Cytokine mRNA Expression in the Human Mast Cell Line HMC-1. Scandinavian Journal of Immunology, 42(1), 76–81. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3083.1995.tb03628.x
- O'Reilly, S., Ciechomska, M., Cant, R., Hügle, T., & van Laar, J. M. (2012). Interleukin-6, its role in fibrosing conditions. In *Cytokine and Growth Factor Reviews* (Vol. 23, Issue 3, pp. 99–107). Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cytogfr.2012.04.003
- Oryan, A., Alemzadeh, E., & Moshiri, A. (2017). Burn wound healing: Present concepts, treatment strategies and future directions. *Journal of Wound Care*, *26*(1), 5–19. https://doi.org/10.12968/jowc.2017.26.1.5
- Papini, R. (2004). ABC of burns: Management of burn injuries of various depths. In *British Medical Journal* (Vol. 329, Issue 7458, pp. 158–160). BMJ Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.329.7458.158
- Parks, D. H., Carvajal, H. F., & Larson, D. L. (1977). Management of burns. Surgical Clinics of North America, 57(5), 875–894. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0039-6109(16)41332-0
- Pastar, I., Stojadinovic, O., Yin, N. C., Ramirez, H., Nusbaum, A. G., Sawaya, A., Patel, S. B., Khalid, L., Isseroff, R. R., & Tomic-Canic, M. (2014). Epithelialization in Wound Healing: A Comprehensive Review. *Advances in Wound Care*, 3(7), 445– 464. https://doi.org/10.1089/wound.2013.0473
- Pastore, S., Mascia, F., Mariani, V., & Girolomoni, G. (2008). The epidermal growth factor receptor system in skin repair and inflammation. In *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* (Vol. 128, Issue 6, pp. 1365–1374). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jid.5701184
- Paulino Do Nascimento, A., & Monte-Alto-Costa, A. (2011). Both obesity-prone and obesity-resistant rats present delayed cutaneous wound healing. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 106(4), 603–611. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114511000468
- Peck, M. D. (2011). Epidemiology of burns throughout the world. Part I: Distribution and risk factors. In *Burns* (Vol. 37, Issue 7, pp. 1087–1100). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.burns.2011.06.005
- Peplow, P. V., & Chatterjee, M. P. (2013). A review of the influence of growth factors and cytokines in in vitro human keratinocyte migration. *Cytokine*, 62(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2013.02.015
- Pruitt, B. A., Mason, A. D., & Moncrief, J. A. (1971). Hemodynamic changes in the early postburn patient: The influence of fluid administration and of a vasodilator (Hydralazine). *Journal of Trauma - Injury, Infection and Critical Care*, 11(1), 36– 46. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005373-197101000-00003
- Qu, Z., Liebler, J. M., Powers, M. R., Galey, T., Ahmadi, P., Huang, X. N., Ansel, J. C., Butterfield, J. H., Planck, S. R., & Rosenbaum, J. T. (1995). Mast cells are a major

source of basic fibroblast growth factor in chronic inflammation and cutaneous hemangioma. *American Journal of Pathology*, *147*(3), 564–573. /pmc/articles/PMC1870968/?report=abstract

- Rangaraju, L. P., Kunapuli, G., Every, D., Ayala, O. D., Ganapathy, P., & Mahadevan-Jansen, A. (2019). Classification of burn injury using Raman spectroscopy and optical coherence tomography: An ex-vivo study on porcine skin. *Burns*, 45(3), 659–670. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.burns.2018.10.007
- Reiss, E., Stirman, J. A., Artz, C. P., Davis, J. H., & Amspacher, W. H. (1953). Fluid and electrolyte balance in burns. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 152(14), 1309–1313. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1953.03690140017004
- Ribeiro, M. P., Espiga, A., Silva, D., Baptista, P., Henriques, J., Ferreira, C., Silva, J. C., Borges, J. P., Pires, E., Chaves, P., & Correia, I. J. (2009). Development of a new chitosan hydrogel for wound dressing. *Wound Repair and Regeneration*, 17(6), 817–824. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1524-475X.2009.00538.x
- Rigotti, G., Marchi, A., Galiè, M., Baroni, G., Benati, D., Krampera, M., Pasini, A., & Sbarbati, A. (2007). Clinical treatment of radiotherapy tissue damage by lipoaspirate transplant: A healing process mediated by adipose-derived adult stem cells. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, *119*(5), 1409–1422. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.prs.0000256047.47909.71
- Rosique, R. G., Rosique, M. J., & Farina Junior, J. A. (2015). Curbing inflammation in skin wound healing: A review. In *International Journal of Inflammation* (Vol. 2015). Hindawi Publishing Corporation. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/316235
- Roth, D., Piekarek, M., Paulsson, M., Christ, H., Krieg, T., Bloch, W., Davidson, J. M., & Eming, S. A. (2006). Plasmin modulates vascular endothelial growth factor-Amediated angiogenesis during wound repair. *American Journal of Pathology*, *168*(2), 670–684. https://doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2006.050372
- Rowan, M. P., Cancio, L. C., Elster, E. A., Burmeister, D. M., Rose, L. F., Natesan, S., Chan, R. K., Christy, R. J., & Chung, K. K. (2015). Burn wound healing and treatment: Review and advancements. In *Critical Care* (Vol. 19, Issue 1). BioMed Central Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13054-015-0961-2
- Rumsaeng, V., Cruikshank, W. W., Foster, B., Prussin, C., Kirshenbaum, A. S., Davis, T. A., Kornfeld, H., Center, D. M., & Metcalfe, D. D. (1997). Human mast cells produce the CD4+ T lymphocyte chemoattractant factor, IL-16. *The Journal of Immunology*, 159(6).
- Ruoss, S. J., Hartmann, T., & Caughey, G. H. (1991). Mast cell tryptase is a mitogen for cultured fibroblasts. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 88(2), 493–499. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI115330
- Sanker, S., Chandrasekharan, U. M., Wilk, D., Glynias, M. J., Karnik, S. S., & Husain, A. (1997). Distinct Multisite Synergistic Interactions Determine Substrate Specificities of Human Chymase and Rat Chymase-1 for Angiotensin II Formation and Degradation*. In *THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY* (Vol. 272, Issue 5). https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.272.5.2963
- Schwartz, L. B. (1990). Tryptase, a mediator of human mast cells. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 86(4 PART 2), 594–598. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0091-6749(05)80222-2
- Seibold, J. R., Giorno, R. C., & Claman, H. N. (1990). Dermal mast cell degranulation in systemic sclerosis. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 33(11), 1702–1709. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.1780331114

- Shah, S. V., Wallin, J. D., & Eilenj, S. D. (1983). Chemiluminescence and superoxide anion production by leukocytes from diabetic patients. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 57(2), 402–409. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem-57-2-402
- Shen, T., Pan, Z. G., Zhou, X., & Hong, C. Y. (2013). Accelerated healing of diabetic wound using artificial dermis constructed with adipose stem cells and poly(Lglutamic acid)/chitosan scaffold. *Chinese Medical Journal*, *126*(8), 1498–1503. https://doi.org/10.3760/cma.j.issn.0366-6999.20123284
- Shi, R., Jin, Y., Cao, C., Han, S., Shao, X., Meng, L., Cheng, J., Zhang, M., Zheng, J., Xu, J., & Li, M. (2016). Localization of human adipose-derived stem cells and their effect in repair of diabetic foot ulcers in rats. *Stem Cell Research & Therapy*, 7(1), 155. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-016-0412-2
- Silverstein, P., Heimbach, D., Meites, H., Latenser, B., Mozingo, D., Mullins, F., Garner, W., Turkowski, J., Shupp, J., Glat, P., & Purdue, G. (2011). An open, parallel, randomized, comparative, multicenter study to evaluate the costeffectiveness, performance, tolerance, and safety of a silver-containing soft silicone foam dressing (intervention) vs silver sulfadiazine cream. *Journal of Burn Care and Research*, 32(6), 617–626. https://doi.org/10.1097/BCR.0b013e318236fe31
- Singer, N. G., & Caplan, A. I. (2011). Mesenchymal stem cells: Mechanisms of inflammation. *Annual Review of Pathology: Mechanisms of Disease*, 6, 457–478. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-pathol-011110-130230
- Singh, R., Chacharkar, M. P., & Mathur, A. K. (2008). Chitin membrane for wound dressing application - Preparation, characterisation and toxicological evaluation. *International Wound Journal*, 5(5), 665–673. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-481X.2008.00482.x
- Sinno, H., & Prakash, S. (2013). Complements and the Wound Healing Cascade: An Updated Review. *Plastic Surgery International*, 2013, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/146764
- Soneja, A., Drews, M., & Malinski, T. (2005). Role of nitric oxide, nitroxidative and oxidative stress in wound healing. *Pharmacological REports*, *57*, 108–119.
- Souza, B. R., Santos, J. S., & Costa, A. M. A. (2006). Blockade of β1- and β2adrenoceptors delays wound contraction and re-epithelialization in rats. *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology*, *33*(5–6), 421–430. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1681.2006.04383.x
- Stern, D. M., Yan, S. Du, Yan, S. F., & Schmidt, A. M. (2002). Receptor for advanced glycation endproducts (RAGE) and the complications of diabetes. In *Ageing Research Reviews* (Vol. 1, Issue 1, pp. 1–15). Ageing Res Rev. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0047-6374(01)00366-9
- Taal, L. A., & Faber, A. W. (1998). Posttraumatic stress and maladjustment among adult burn survivors 1-2 years postburn. *Burns*, 24(4), 285–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0305-4179(98)00030-8
- Tepper, O. M., Galiano, R. D., Capla, J. M., Kalka, C., Gagne, P. J., Jacobowitz, G. R., Levine, J. P., & Gurtner, G. C. (2002). Human endothelial progenitor cells from type II diabetics exhibit impaired proliferation, adhesion, and incorporation into vascular structures. *Circulation*, 106(22), 2781–2786. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000039526.42991.93
- Tholpady, S. S., Llull, R., Ogle, R. C., Rubin, J. P., Futrell, J. W., & Katz, A. J. (2006). Adipose tissue: Stem cells and beyond. In *Clinics in Plastic Surgery* (Vol. 33, Issue

1, pp. 55-62). Clin Plast Surg. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cps.2005.08.004

- Thomas, N. J., Jones, S. E., Weedon, M. N., Shields, B. M., Oram, R. A., & Hattersley, A. T. (2018). Frequency and phenotype of type 1 diabetes in the first six decades of life: a cross-sectional, genetically stratified survival analysis from UK Biobank. *The Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology*, 6(2), 122–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(17)30362-5
- Tian, M., Qing, C., Niu, Y., Dong, J., Cao, X., Song, F., Ji, X., & Lu, S. (2016). The Relationship Between Inflammation and Impaired Wound Healing in a Diabetic Rat Burn Model. *Journal of Burn Care & Research*, 37(2), e115–e124. https://doi.org/10.1097/BCR.00000000000171
- Tiwari, V. K. (2012). Burn wound: How it differs from other wounds. In *Indian Journal* of *Plastic Surgery* (Vol. 45, Issue 2, pp. 364–373). Thieme Medical Publishers. https://doi.org/10.4103/0970-0358.101319
- Tracy, L. E., Minasian, R. A., & Caterson, E. J. (2016). Extracellular Matrix and Dermal Fibroblast Function in the Healing Wound. In *Advances in Wound Care* (Vol. 5, Issue 3, pp. 119–136). Mary Ann Liebert Inc. https://doi.org/10.1089/wound.2014.0561
- Trinchieri, G., Pflanz, S., & Kastelein, R. A. (2003). The IL-12 family of heterodimeric cytokines: New players in the regulation of T cell responses. In *Immunity* (Vol. 19, Issue 5, pp. 641–644). Cell Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00296-6
- Tuhin, R. H., Begum, M., Rahman, S., Karim, R., Begum, T., Ahmed, S. U., Mostofa, R., Hossain, A., Abdel-Daim, M., & Begum, R. (2017). Wound healing effect of Euphorbia hirta linn. (Euphorbiaceae) in alloxan induced diabetic rats. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12906-017-1930-x
- V, F. (2000). Classifications for wound bed preparation and stimulation of chronic wounds. *Wound Repair and Regeneration*, 8(5), 347–352. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1524-475X.2000.00347.x
- Voest, E. E., Kenyon, B. M., O'reilly, M. S., Truitt, G., D'amato, R. J., & Folkman, J. (1995). Inhibition of angiogenesis in vivo by interleukin 12. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 87(8), 581–586. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/87.8.581
- Wasiak, J., Cleland, H., Campbell, F., & Spinks, A. (2013). Dressings for superficial and partial thickness burns. In *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* (Vol. 2013, Issue 3). John Wiley and Sons Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/14/51858 CD002106 muh4
 - https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD002106.pub4
- Watanabe, Y., Lee, S. W., Detmar, M., Ajioka, I., & Dvorak, H. F. (1997). Vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor (VPF/ VEGF) delays and induces escape from senescence in human dermal microvascular endothelial cells. *Oncogene*, 14(17), 2025–2032. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1201033
- Weaver, M. L., Hicks, C. W., Canner, J. K., Sherman, R. L., Hines, K. F., Mathioudakis, N., & Abularrage, C. J. (2018). The Society for Vascular Surgery Wound, Ischemia, and foot Infection (WIfI) classification system predicts wound healing better than direct angiosome perfusion in diabetic foot wounds. *Journal of Vascular Surgery*, 68(5), 1473–1481. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvs.2018.01.060
- WEBER, S., KRÜGER-KRASAGAKES, S., GRABBE, J., ZUBERBIER, T., & CZARNETZKI, B. M. (1995). MAST CELLS. *International Journal of Dermatology*, 34(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-4362.1995.tb04366.x
- Werner, S., & Grose, R. (2003a). Regulation of wound healing by growth factors and

cytokines. In *Physiological Reviews* (Vol. 83, Issue 3, pp. 835–870). American Physiological Society. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.2003.83.3.835

- Werner, S., & Grose, R. (2003b). Regulation of wound healing by growth factors and cytokines. *Physiological Reviews*, 83(3), 835–870. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.2003.83.3.835
- Wetzler, C., Kampfer, H., Stallmeyer, B., Pfeilschifter, J., & Frank, S. (2000). Large and sustained induction of chemokines during impaired wound healing in the genetically diabetic mouse: Prolonged persistence of neutrophils and macrophages during the late phase of repair. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 115(2), 245– 253. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1747.2000.00029.x
- Wilkinson, D. I., Theeuwes, M. J., & Farber, E. M. (1994). Nerve growth factor increases the mitogenicity of certain growth factors for cultured human keratinocytes: A comparison with epidermal growth factor. *Experimental Dermatology*, 3(5), 239–245. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0625.1994.tb00283.x
- World Health Organization. (2018). *Burns*. https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/burns
- Xue, H., McCauley, R. L., Zhang, W., & Martini, D. K. (2000). Altered interleukin-6 expression in fibroblasts from hypertrophic burn scars. *Journal of Burn Care and Rehabilitation*, 21(2), 142–146. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004630-200021020-00010
- Xue, M., & Jackson, C. J. (2015). Extracellular Matrix Reorganization During Wound Healing and Its Impact on Abnormal Scarring. *Advances in Wound Care*, *4*(3), 119–136. https://doi.org/10.1089/wound.2013.0485
- Zhu, Z., Ding, J., & Tredget, E. E. (2016). The molecular basis of hypertrophic scars. *Burns & Trauma*, 4. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41038-015-0026-4
- Zografou, A., Papadopoulos, O., Tsigris, C., Kavantzas, N., Michalopoulos, E., Chatzistamatiou, T., Papassavas, A., Stavropoulou-Gioka, C., Dontas, I., & Perrea, D. (2013). Autologous transplantation of adipose-derived stem cells enhances skin graft survival and wound healing in diabetic rats. *Annals of Plastic Surgery*, 71(2), 225–232. https://doi.org/10.1097/SAP.0b013e31826af01a
- Zuk, P. A., Zhu, M., Mizuno, H., Huang, J., Futrell, J. W., Katz, A. J., Benhaim, P., Lorenz, H. P., & Hedrick, M. H. (2001). Multilineage cells from human adipose tissue: Implications for cell-based therapies. *Tissue Engineering*, 7(2), 211–228. https://doi.org/10.1089/107632701300062859
- Zuk, Patricia A., Zhu, M., Ashjian, P., De Ugarte, D. A., Huang, J. I., Mizuno, H., Alfonso, Z. C., Fraser, J. K., Benhaim, P., & Hedrick, M. H. (2002). Human adipose tissue is a source of multipotent stem cells. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 13(12), 4279–4295. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E02-02-0105